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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

RESULTS

I, on behalf of the board of directors, announce that the
turnover of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March
2010 was HK$2,347,582,000 (2009: HK$2,290,626,000).
The net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
amounted to HK$86,440,000 (2009: HK$105,048,000).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors has recommended the payment of a
final dividend of HKS.0 cents (2009: HKS.0 cents) per share in
respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2010. Subject to
shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting to be held
on 2 September 2010, the final dividend will be payable on 22
September 2010. Together with the interim dividend of HK2.0
cents per share, the total distribution for the financial year
ended 31 March 2010 is HK7.0 cents (2009: HK7.0 cents).
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Chairman’s Statement

ETFR®BE

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year under review, the Group maintained a steady sales
growth. The sales derived from Hong Kong segment reached
HK$1,553,981,000, representing an increase of 4% over the
same period of last year, and accounted for approximately
66% of the Group’s total sales. The sales in Mainland China
was HK$793,601,000, an amount similar to the same period
of last year and accounted for approximately 34% of the
Group’s total sales. Benefiting from the effective cost control,
proactive broadening of product range and development of
market opportunities, the Group’s overall segmental result
achieved a solid growth compared to the same period of last
year. The segmental result of Hong Kong was still affected by
the unfavourable movement of the exchange rate of Japanese
Yen which in turn increased the purchasing costs. However,
the stable production costs coupled with enhanced production
efficiency, the segmental result of Mainland China was

significantly improved.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Kanro Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Co., Ltd.
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The Calbee Four Seas Factory in Tseung Kwan O
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Tsun Fat (Huizhou) Biscuit Factory Ltd.
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Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Co., Ltd.
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Nico Four Seas (Shantou) Co., Ltd.
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Food Distribution

Moving towards its 39th anniversary of establishment,
Four Seas Group is a unique food enterprise with its own
characteristics. Since then, food distribution has all along
been the Group’s core business of distributing famous and
high quality food products from more than thirty countries
all over the world. Four Seas Group has commanded a
dominant position in the food industry in Hong Kong through
its extensive distribution network, on-going brand name
developments as well as its reliable corporate strengths and

renowned reputation.

“Calbee”, one of the brands distributed by the Group, was
awarded “2009 7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign Award”,
“Yahoo! Emotive Brand Award 2009-2010” by one of the
world-largest internet search engines, Yahoo Hong Kong,
and “The 10th Favourite Brands Award” by Wellcome
Supermarket, in recognition of the Group’s outstanding sales
strategy. During the year, the Group was once again accredited
with “Prime Awards for Corporate Social Responsibility”
and “Caring Company Award” for eight consecutive years,
recognising its commitment to community services and
corporate social responsibility, as well as its successful
marketing strategies.
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Food Manufacturing

Food manufacturing brings another rewarding business
platform to the success of the Group. With 20 manufacturing
plants in both Mainland China and Hong Kong, the Group
is able to produce a wide range of specialty food products,
including seaweed, candies, snacks and confectioneries,
peanuts, potato chips, instant noodles, ice-cream, biscuits, cake,
chestnuts, ham, sausages, frozen dim sums, and beverages.
Riding on the advancement in production capacity, Four Seas
(Suzhou) Food Co., Ltd, a manufacturing plant of the Group
located in Suzhou, Mainland China, is committed to exploring
the beverage market by developing a series of refreshment
drinks and fruit juices including Tsubu Tsubu orange drinks,
coffee, milk tea, lemon tea, green tea, Oolong tea, which has
enhanced the Group’s competitiveness and became another

growth driver in the beverage market.

Over the years, the Group achieved a remarkable performance
and received accreditations for its quality control, including
“Creditable-Quality Food Products in Nation”, “Creditable-
Quality Enterprises”, “Hong Kong Q-Mark Product Scheme
Certification”, “Fresh Check Food Safety Certificate Grade
A Award”, “China Food Industry Outstanding Contribution
Award”, “China Independent Innovation and Brand Building
Award”, the honorary certificates of “Model Enterprise of Food
Safety 20097, and the certificates of ISO 9001 and ISO 22000.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu Orange Drinks and Calbee Calbee Potato Chips was awarded “2009 7-Eleven Top Calbee received “Yahoo! Emotive Brand Award 2009-

Potato Chips were honored by Wellcome Supermarket Brands Campaign Award” .
as “The Rising Star Award” and “The 10th Favourite
Brands Award” respectively.
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Four Seas Brand

“Four Seas” brand, a proprietary premium brand name
developed by the Group, is well received by loyal consumers
evidenced by increasing market shares over the years.
Leveraging on preemptive marketing strategies, effective
promotional campaigns, and distinctive product positioning
strategy, “Four Seas” brand has been highly recognised and
accredited with various awards including “Non-Stop Eating
Snack of Smart Living 2008 voted by “Three Weekly”, “The
Hong Kong’s 100 Most Influential Brands 2008 awarded by
the World Brand Laboratory, and the “Best Loved Local Brand
in Daily Life” by the joint-survey of Hong Kong Design Centre
and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. More recently,
“Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu Orange Drinks” received “The Rising
Star Award” from Wellcome Supermarket demonstrating
that “Four Seas” brand is a truly indigenous local brand well
received and recognised among local consumers. The TV
commercials of “Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu Orange Drinks”
was launched with celebrity endorsement by a popular star
Mr. Richie Yam and proved to be a successful promotional
campaign with noteworthy sales and received an overwhelming

response from consumers.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010

—

[F4EBHN- | J7-ElevenfE FIJEATE [20094F i3 F

2010” by Yahoo Hong Kong.
[REEB] SEFERERBIE [ Yahoo VBRI A HE
2009-2010./

PY 3 s S

P E T B K 6 A8 R B H R
W56 R BT o R B S T 5
B~ A R0 T 5 B SR~ W Y E i E r
TES > (T VI | SR AE )5 1B > 254 28 8 i
o b g3 MR (AN
#2008 2 & W45 L Z &) ~ [ i b B e
M (20087 W5 1005 H A B ) ) ~ Rl &
LT 0 | B T 75 v B T K B | 3 A7 o 2 I A
L CHE MR RS AH ) s DAE0R
B> TRk | T EREAT S 7T
CReBEFHME fh ) KBE5E » JRIELFRR [ [ Y ] &
M2 54 EAE T o [ P9 P Tsubu Tsubufii i
P | TE AR v v B R AT R AT B e A AR
B BENEEJUH R » A - &
(3% YNERT T - E8 ¢



Dongguang Four Seas Meat Processing The Group was accredited with “Caring The Group was awarded the honorary The Group was accredited with
Co., Ltd was awarded the certificates of Company Award” for eight consecutive ~certificate of “Model Enterprise of Food “Prime Awards for Corporate Social

Chairman’s Statement
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IS0 9001 and 15O 22000. sears. Safety . ) Responsibility”.
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Catering Business BIKED

During the year, the performance of the Group’s restaurants
was satisfactory. The longstanding renowned “Panxi
Restaurant”, one of the largest garden-style restaurants located
in Liwan District in Guangzhou, China, was voted as “The
Best Loved Restaurant” in the Southern Guangdong Style
Category of “Guangdong Food Carnival 2009” from Sina.
com. In Hong Kong, “Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian
Cuisine” was voted as “The 2008 Emerging Service Brand”
of the “Hong Kong Top Service Brand Award” competition.
Another new outlet of “Kung Tak Lam” was opened in New
Town Plaza in Shatin to meet the customers’ demand for
healthy vegetarian food. Also, “Kung Tak Lam” was bestowed
with the “Gold with Distinction Award” in the Vegetarian
Category of “The Best of the Best Culinary Awards 2009” from
Chinese Cuisine Training Institute for its award-winning dish of
“Braised Vegetarian Meatball in Casserole”. “Kung Tak Lam”
Causeway Bay branch was highly recommended by “Michelin
Guide Hong Kong Macau 2010”. “Restaurant Shiki Limited”,
“Osaka Ohsho” Japanese dumplings specialty restaurant, and
“Shousihuang” sushi restaurant chain in Mainland China, all

achieved satisfactory business performance.
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Chairman’s Statement

ER®mE
Food Retailing

The Group’s retail chain “Okashi Land” delivered an
encouraging performance and has become a prestige retail
brand for trendy snack foods in the market. With its extensive
retail network in Hong Kong, “Okashi Land” is able to
distribute thousands of trendy snack foods and is highly
recognised among consumers. Over the years, “Okashi
Land” as a renowned retail brand name received numerous
accreditations, including “U! Choice University Students’ Most
Favourite Brand” awarded by Metro Broadcast Corporation
Limited, “The 6th Hong Kong & Macau Merchants of Integrity
Award” by “Guangzhou Daily”, and accredited as “QTS-
Merchant” of the “Quality Tourism Services Scheme” by the
Hong Kong Tourism Board. All of these are demonstrating the
competitive advantage and future growth momentum of Okashi
Land.

PROSPECTS

Since its establishment in 1971, the Group’s success has been
built on its prudent financial management and stable business
performance. Capitalising on its wealth of brand equity, high
quality of productivity, a wide variety of product offerings,
together with excellent relationship with suppliers, and
commitment to providing value-added service to customers, the
Group continues to consolidate and benefit from its leadership
position in the food industry. The Group’s management is

optimistic to its future business development.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to express
my sincere gratitude to our shareholders and our business
partners for their support and trust to the management team. My
gratitude also extends to our staff for their loyalty and diligence
in the developments of the business of the Group.

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
and associates are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the financial
statements, respectively. There were no significant changes in

the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are

set out in the financial statements on pages 48 to 187.

An interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share was paid by
the Company on 20 January 2010. The directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HKS5.0 cents per share in
respect of the reporting year to shareholders on the register
of members on 2 September 2010. This recommendation has
been incorporated in the financial statements as an allocation
of retained profits within the equity section of the statement of

financial position.
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Report of the Directors
EEEgHRE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

published audited financial statements, is set out below:

2010
R R4
HK$’000
W T
RESULTS E S
REVENUE KA 2,347,582
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4. BE i Al 83,319
Attributable to: HEAY
Equity holders of the A ] W HE 25
Company P& 86,440
Minority interests A BB R (3,121)
83,319
2010
e S 210
HK$’000
BT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ & K% i &
TOTAL ASSETS G E 2,163,798
TOTAL LIABILITIES HES=Ei (1,142,127)
1,021,671

The information set out above does not form part of the audited

financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March
BEZH=Z1—HIL4E
2009 2008 2007
SREAE CRRAE CFRLE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T HWTT EWT T

2,290,626 2,096,535 1,875,515

90,537 86,176 110,760
105,048 81,172 106,419
(14,511) 5,004 4,341
90,537 86,176 110,760

As at 31 March

REH=+—H
2009 2008 2007
ZEFLE ZFFNFE ZFFLE

HKS$’000  HKS$'000 HKS 000
BT #BWTL BT

2,086,086 1,940,142 1,617,308
(1,092,247) (1,035,846) (788,424)

993,839 904,296 828,884

2006

X ki
HKS$’000

T

1,747,716

88,701

94,561
(5,860)

88,701

2006
=
HKS$’000
WM

1,530,107
(799,647)

730,460
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment,
and an investment property of the Group during the year are set
out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively.
Further details of the Group’s investment property are set out

on page 188.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during

the year are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares

on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 32(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2010, the Company’s reserves available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to
HK$294,636,000, of which HK$19,537,000 has been proposed

as a final dividend for the year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at the end of
the reporting period are set out in note 28 to the financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

WU Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis

YIP Wai Keung

WU Wing Biu

Independent non-executive directors:

LEUNG Mei Han
CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter
Hiroshi ZAIZEN

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 1 April 2010,
Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson, was appointed as an executive

director of the Company.

In accordance with article 119 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis, Mr. Wu Wing Biu
and Ms. Leung Mei Han will retire and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

In accordance with article 101 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson will retire and being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Ms. Leung Mei Han, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr.
Hiroshi Zaizen pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still

considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group, and the remuneration committee of the Group.
Details of remuneration of the directors are set out in note
8 to the financial statements. Particulars of the duties and
responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set out in

“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party

during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in

Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

ot 35 B e vy AT BN R AR 2 ]
A0 R 6k 2 10 0B A B R B DB By 2
B B R AT ()

TR 2 w3 B B Ay 2 4 A

Number of ordinary shares held, capacity and nature of interest

5 1240 ¢ GRE T ZWE £33
Through Percentage of
Directly Through controlled the Company’s
beneficially controlled Beneficiary corporation and Total issued
Name of director owned corporation of atrust other interests interests  share capital
i Eed ] fhAH
EaRE  hEZEA iy e eRATRA
EHAH HERRAA RRER L E) bR R B At ARl
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen BEY - 81,250,000 82,000,000% 115,228,000 278,478,000 71.27%
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly HEA = 81,250,0007 82,000,000% 115,228,000 278,478,000 71.27%
Yip Wai Keung ERR 680,000 - - - 680,000 0.17%

Notes: M Et -

®

(i1)

(iif)

The 81,250,000 shares are owned by Special Access Limited (“SAL”), a
company wholly owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his spouse Dr.
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

The 82,000,000 shares are owned by Careful Guide Limited (“CGL”)
whose shares are owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust, the
eligible beneficiaries of which include members of the family of Dr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen, and his spouse Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

The 115,228,000 shares are owned by Capital Season Investments
Limited (“CSI”). CSI is wholly-owned by Advance Finance Investments
Limited (“AFI”), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Four Seas Food
Investment Holdings Limited (“FSFH”). Accordingly, FSFH is deemed to
be interested in 115,228,000 shares in the Company. FSFH is owned as
to 0.07% by the Company, 2.59% by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, 20.38%
by SAL, and as to 11.91% by CGL. As Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is
the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is
deemed to be interested in the shares of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and
vice versa. Therefore, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his spouse Dr. Wu
Mei Yung, Quinly are considered to have deemed interests in 115,228,000
shares of the Company.
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(i1)

(iii)

81,250,000 % B 4 75 ﬂiSpecial Access Limited
(TSAL) B » #% 2 vi) vy 808 il e L3 ) 52
AL E2EHAE -

82,000,000/ BBt 4 73 i Careful Guide Limited
(TCGL) #EF » & Z By B — 2 HEE e — IR
KGR TEI A - Ho5 B 5240 N\ A 55 A8 B
BHEFEFHEAELZKBERH -

115,228,000/8% & 43 75 HiCapital Season Investments
Limited ([ CST]) # 47 > CSI HAdvance Finance
Investments Limited ([ AFT]) 2 & #EH » iff AFTHI %5 P4
WEMBEERARAR (T EHBRE]D) Z2E
o A O S AR 1 B = G S S i R I NS
JBeA3115,228,000/8k o VU9 £ fih 43 5 43 31l i AR O v HE AT
0.07% > 38 18 Wl 1= BE42.59% > SALHE£20.38% >
K CGLEEA 11.91% o FRHISRA L7 s g 12
T WIS et s o A R L 2 e
JRZIFHR o BRIk o ST M R LS W SE R T L
P 2 547 A A F] 115,228,000/ 43 ©



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION (continued)

All the interests stated above represent long positions in the
shares of the Company. Save as disclosed above, as at 31
March 2010, none of the directors and chief executive nor
any of their associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations required to be disclosed pursuant to the
SFO.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company nor any of their respective
spouses or minor children was granted or held options to
subscribe for shares in the Company (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised such rights.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any director or their respective spouses
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in

any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that, as at
31 March 2010, the following parties, other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above, had
notified the Company of the following substantial shareholders’
interests or short positions, being 5% or more of the total issued

share capital of the Company:

Name of substantial shareholder Notes
FERHEAR Wit
SAL

CGL

HSBC International Trustee Limited (1)
CSI

AFI (ii)
FSFH M4 & 5 4% & (ii)
Notes:

(i) The interest of HSBC International Trustee Limited is held as trustee
via CGL for a discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust, the eligible
beneficiaries of which include members of the family of Dr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen, and his spouse Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. These interests
are also included as beneficiary of a trust of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen,
and his spouse Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly in the above section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation” above.

(ii) AFI is deemed by virtue of its holding of the entire issued share capital of
CSI to be interested in the shares of the Company held by CSI.

(iii) FSFH is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by

CSI by virtue of its holding in the entire issued share capital of AFI,
which in turn wholly owns CSI.
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Percentage

of the

Number of Company’s

Long/short ordinary  issued share

Capacity position shares held capital

Bk fHaWcHs
ahr ER/UR FHYH  BRAHAR

Direct H Longlf & 81,250,000 20.79%

Direct H # Longhf & 82,000,000 20.99%

Deemed i # Longlt & 82,000,000 20.99%

Direct 4% Longf & 115,228,000 29.49%

Deemed ] #% Longf# & 115,228,000 29.49%

Deemed i # Longlf & 115,228,000 29.49%
Witk

(i) HSBC International Trustee Limited Z #2557 #CGL
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors
of the Company, as at 31 March 2010, no persons (other than
the directors and chief executive of the Company, whose
interests are set out in the above section headed ‘“Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation”) had registered an interest and/or short position in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company did not have any outstanding option at the
beginning and at the end of the year. During the year, no
options have been granted under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 2 September 2002. Details of
the share option scheme are set out in note 31 to the financial

statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group had the following connected
transaction, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance

with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Connected transaction

On 10 September 2009, Four Seas Enterprises (BVI) Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
share transfer agreement with Daisho Holdings (HK) Limited,
a substantial shareholder of Sushi Pro Limited, to acquire a
50% equity interest (the “Transaction”) in Sushi Pro Limited,
at a cash consideration of HK$5,600,000. Sushi Pro Limited
was an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
prior to the completion of the Transaction. Further details of the

Transaction are included in note 19 to the financial statements.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, JP, PhD (honoris causa),
aged 62, has been an executive director of the Company since
June 1993. Dr. Tai is the founder and chairman of the Group,
responsible for corporate and policy planning. He holds the
Visiting Professor of South China Normal University and
South China Agricultural University, member of the Board of
Trustees of Jinan University, Honorary Doctorate of Philosophy
of Morrison University in the United States and Doctor of
Philosophy in Business Administration (honoris causa) of
the Southern California University for Professional Studies
in the United States. He is a Standing Committee Member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a Standing Committee Member
of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Dr. Tai holds
several public positions, including the president of the Hong
Kong Foodstuffs Association, the president of the Hong Kong
Japan Confectionery, Biscuit & Foodstuffs Association, the
chairman of the Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign
Investors, the consultant of the China National Food Industry
Association, Economic Adviser of Jilin City, a member of the
Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council of the HKSAR,
and a member of the Commission on Strategic Development of
the HKSAR. He received a number of awards and accolades,
including the World Outstanding Chinese Award, the 30th
Food Industry Distinguished Service Award, the Award of the
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries of Japan for
the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the Outstanding
Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry, the
China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Top 10 Outstanding People
of Asia Management Innovation Award, the Top 10 Famous
People of China Innovative Branding Award, the Social
Responsibility Contribution Award, “Honourable Citizen of
Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of Guangzhou City” and
“Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland China. He is
also the chairman of Four Seas Food Investment Holdings
Limited (“FSFH”), a substantial shareholder of the Company
and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and a director of Careful Guide Limited
and Special Access Limited, substantial shareholders of the

Company.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010

o B A A BN B 1 g

PATHE R

AN > 6258 0 H U= AN A R AR
RARNFPATEDSR o ML LHAREEZ AN
MEN - AEAERBURRHE - HBREREE
Koy D N O e R N
JRERBREEHIZ - B KERE - FEEJER
FLORBLOBPT ML - KB M KRR T
HEBREL - PERARBIGHHER2BEZER
EHBZE KB RBOG R &
BEEEZRAN > WIHEZFELF AR > 85
BFHEMHETTRE - WH RO R M ERE
HEER  FWERIEAGEE - PEES
T e R - 3 AR AR LR~ AR R AT
BE KRB =EARBERE G R B KPR BURA R
MBEREETRE - XEREZTHKRE > 4
P ARG AL - HARE =1 EahE¥Y)
SH ~ HARBUNEAOKE KESE - hE &L
EBHERSE - PREENEEEGE FEHEL
R~ A BRI T RBEH A - P H
F A0 B A s T R EE A SE e AT
BRRSE ~ o [l BE SR R M T AR
BB 75 AR T A T IR o P )R A O U B R
BEERARAE (THMERBRE]D) ZEE
% A ) R AR ) 32 B R o R T A B A8 B
MR LT o 4575 %% Careful Guide Limited }2 Special
Access Limited Z # 5% » I [ 2 W] 35 25 A A ]
ZEEBR o



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WU Mei Yung, Quinly, PhD (honoris causa), aged 57,
has been an executive director of the Company since June
1993. Dr. Wu is a co-founder and the managing director of the
Group, responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, human
resources, merchandising and purchasing policies; leading
the Group’s core business in congruence with its corporate
development. She has more than 30 years’ experience in the
food and confectionery business. Dr. Wu is also a director
of Careful Guide Limited and Special Access Limited, the
substantial shareholders of the Company. She is the spouse
of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the chairman and an executive

director of the Company.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 54, has been an executive
director of the Company since August 1999. Mr. Man is the
finance director of the Group, responsible for corporate finance,
accounting, information technology and project investments
of the Group. Mr. Man has a Master of Commerce degree
from the University of New South Wales in Australia. He
is also a member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has gained
extensive experience in finance and accounting from overseas
multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined the Group in 1992.
He is also a director of FSFH.

Mr. YIP Wai Keung, aged 60, has been an executive director
of the Company since June 1993. Mr. Yip is responsible for
the project development of the Group and liaising with the
joint venture partners. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip
was responsible for marketing and promotion activities in a
Japanese food company in Hong Kong. He has more than 30
years’ experience in sales and marketing. Mr. Yip joined the
Group in 1979. He is also a director of FSFH.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. WU Wing Biu, aged 51, has been an executive director
of the Company since June 1993. Mr. Wu is responsible
for product purchasing and merchandising as well as brand
name development; assisting in the establishment of close
relationship with suppliers. He has more than 20 years’
experience in the food and confectionery industry. Mr. Wu
joined the Group in 1978. He is a brother of Dr. Wu Mei Yung,

Quinly, the executive director of the Company.

Mr. NAM Chi Ming, Gibson, aged 49, has been an executive
director of the company since April 2010, is responsible for
managerial controls, internal audit and company secretarial
affairs. He holds a Master of Business Administration degree
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Nam is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. He
has extensive financial and managerial experience. Mr. Nam
worked in the Group from 1996 to 1999, and re-joined the
Group in 2001.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, aged 51, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since December 1998.
Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the
University of Queensland in Australia and is a fellow member
of the CPA Australia. Ms. Leung has more than 20 years’
experience in corporate finance and related areas. Ms. Leung
is also an independent non-executive director of Bossini
International Holdings Limited and Yue Da Mining Holdings
Limited, both companies are listed on the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter, aged 64, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since
July 2000. Mr. Chan was the chairman of a company listed on
the Stock Exchange until July 2002. He was a senior general
manager of a local bank until November 1998. Mr. Chan was
also a director of a listed company in Hong Kong from 1993 to
1995 and an executive director of a joint Chinese-foreign bank
in Shenzhen until 1995. He has more than 30 years’ experience
in the banking and finance industry. Mr. Chan is currently
an independent non-executive director of GOME Electrical
Appliances Holding Limited and Imagi International Holdings
Limited, both companies are listed on the Main Board of the

Stock Exchange.

Mr. Hiroshi ZAIZEN, aged 76, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since July
2006. He is a graduate of Waseda University. He was decorated
for the Knight of the Order of the Dannebrog from The Queen
of Royal Denmark. Between the years 1988 and 1991, Mr.
Zaizen was the chairman and managing director of Mitsubishi
Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited. He was the director of
Mitsubishi Corporation, Tokyo from 1989 to 1998 and retired
as executive vice president and representative director in
1998. Mr. Zaizen holds several public positions including
the president of Japan-Hong Kong Business Association,
Councillor of Japan/Denmark Association, a member of
Executive Committee of Federation of Hong Kong Business
Associations Worldwide, a member of Japan/Canada Forum
and a member of Japan Hong Kong Business Committee. He
has an extensive business and management experience in food

industry.

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 49, is a director and the general
manager of Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited (“HK Ham”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, responsible for the
management of the Group’s ham manufacturing operations. He
has extensive experience in the manufacturing of ham and ham
related products. Mr. Tse joined HK Ham in 1980. He is also a
director of FSFH.

Report of the Directors
EEgHSE

%f&n& A H B R
i<t

18 30 e AT A (A)

BB > 645% > A FFFFELHBIME
AATFZBSLIERMATE SR o BROCAE Y B —
REWAFRLEREEFFHFELH - WHF
R AR HERAT Z FA AR EE —LU\E T —
He WL EFE i E MR > B R
B K EWAFRES > HR UL >
B—ERFEN KT ERITZATES -
T BRAT Je 4 B SE B I 3048 K8 BR - DB 2
T8 A 450 JBUA PR W] B 0 B e e A R 4
ZHSLIEPATE S > BEW R A F IR B AR B &
B LT o

Wi Rk - 165K 0 N _RREANFLHERE
Ry AN W) Z WL IE AT o RN RS
FH K22 o 1 ¥ 1 28 4% Knight of the Order of
the Dannebrog®#f - H —JL/\\EE—JLjL—
- MET A MERB =% Fgita
MRARZEERERERHE —JLN\JLFER
— UL\ R RO =2 B R A
ZHF W —JuJu )R IR AT BRI AR
RFHE BT - B wrse 2k A2 AL &
B> WIS HBHEG AR - AR M50
ZE -~ BRI g AT R B g
H-HBAR/ MEXmETH > UAHBHESR
BEEE o 7R M ES 7 BEA Bz K5 -

2345 YN -

AT 5 495K > A 5 T 2 TR AR A O
KPR B AT PR A ) ([ sk BB ) 2 3
R REBE > BT BRACKRE [ KB E o 2 A T
M o BT K B AT B KB 7 iy SR Ty T A S
REBR o B AT — L\ R I AT s K B R
Weop 2 VUM fr b B E Z o

MmN E®EmERARE o == — = 8 8% 23



24

Report of the Directors
EEgHSE

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. LAI Yuk Fai, Patrick, aged 55, is the director of the
Group’s China sales department, responsible for sales planning
and activities in Mainland China. Mr. Lai has a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, he was the general
manager of sales department of a multinational company. Mr.
Lai joined the Group in 1998 and temporarily left in the latter
part of 2007 and re-joined the Group in 2008.

Mr. TAI Chun Leung, aged 36, is a director of the Group’s
manufacturing operation department, responsible for the
Group’s snack food manufacturing operations management. Mr.
Tai holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the
Southern California University for Professional Studies in the
United States. He has extensive experience in meat processing
and snack food manufacturing operations. Mr. Tai joined the
Group in 1998 and is also a director of FSFH since 2004. He
is a son of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the chairman and an
executive director of the Company.

Mr. FUNG Kwok Wing, Kenny, aged 49, is the financial
controller, responsible for finance and accounting. Mr. Fung
holds a Master of Business Administration degree, Master
of Corporate Governance degree, Master of Finance degree
and Master of Professional Accounting degree. He is also a
member of various professional institutes, including the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Chartered
Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom. Mr. Fung has
extensive experience in accounting and administration. He
joined the Group in 1985 and temporarily left in the latter part
of 2007 and re-joined the Group in 2008.

Mr. CHENG Ngai Lim, Raymond, aged 46, is the associate
director of the Group’s Hong Kong and Macau sales
department, responsible for sales planning and management of
Hong Kong and Macau markets. Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Science from The University of Hong Kong.
Before joining the Group, he was a commercial director of a
multinational corporation. Mr. Cheng joined the Group in 2008.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Ms. LAM Mei Chi, Clara, aged 37, is the associate director
of the Group’s business development department, responsible
for business development and China sales. Ms. Lam holds a
Master of Business Administration degree from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. She gained extensive experience in
merchandising and category management. Before joining the
Group, she was a merchandising director of a leading chain
store. Ms. Lam joined the Group in 2008.

Mr. WONG Hung Kin, aged 51, is the associate director of
the merchandising and marketing department of the Group,
responsible for product purchasing and marketing. Mr. Wong
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the
Southern California University for Professional Studies in
the United States. Prior to joining the Group, he was a senior
merchandising manager of a local winery company and has
over 20 years’ experience in purchasing and marketing. Mr.
Wong joined the Group in 1995.

Mr. HO Kwok Tong, Fred, aged 56, is the general manager
of the Group’s information technology department, responsible
for information technology and systems development. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the
Southern California University for Professional Studies in the
United States. Mr. Ho has over 30 years’ experience in the
development of management information systems. He joined
the Group in 1994.

Ms. TSUN Wai Chun, Alice, aged 41, is the general manager
of the Group’s human resources department, responsible for the
Group’s human resources planning and training management.
Ms. Tsun holds a Master of Science degree in Human
Resources Management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is also a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resources Management. Before joining the Group, she
gained extensive experience in human resources management
from publicly-listed and multinational corporations. Ms. Tsun
joined the Group in 2008.

Ms. TING Hwee Yuan, Elizabeth, aged 44, is the general
manager of the Group’s catering department, responsible for the
Group’s catering operations. Ms. Ting gained over 20 years’
experience in catering business. Prior to joining the Group, she
was the vice president of a renowned catering corporation. Ms.
Ting joined the Group in 2008.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
sales for the year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities granted by its principal
bankers. As at 31 March 2010, the Group had banking facilities
of HK$1,467,763,000 of which 55% had been utilised. The
Group had a gearing ratio of 80% as at 31 March 2010. This is
expressed as the total bank borrowings to equity attributable to
equity holders of the Company. Bank borrowings of the Group,
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Japanese yen and United
States dollars, mainly comprise trust receipt loans and bank
loans (the “Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings”) at prevailing
market interest rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings
which are classified as current liabilities are repayable within
one year and the Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings in non-
current liabilities are repayable in the second to third years. As
at 31 March 2010, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of
HK$509,260,000. During the year, the Group placed surplus
short term funds in short term currency-linked deposits and
foreign currency deposits with banks and incurred a net
investment gain of HK$1,263,000. As at 31 March 2010, no
short term currency-linked deposits were placed with banks.
As at 31 March 2010, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities and there were no significant charges on the Group’s
assets during the year under review.

STAFF EMPLOYMENT

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March
2010 was approximately 4,000. Remuneration packages
are generally structured by reference to market terms and
individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally
reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other
relevant factors.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE
OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 8,820,000
shares at prices ranging from HK$1.66 to HK$2.95 per share
on the Stock Exchange and these shares were subsequently
cancelled by the Company. All the repurchased shares were
cancelled upon repurchase and the issued share capital of the

Company was reduced by the par value thereof.

Shares were repurchased during the year pursuant to the
mandate granted by shareholders at the last annual general
meeting, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a whole by
enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share

of the Group.
Details of the repurchases during the year ended 31 March 2010

are summarized as follows:-

Number of

shares repurchased

Month of Repurchase  Ji M H £ P i ol e 6 % H
October 2009 “EZLFETH 2,488,000
November 2009 “EEZhLE+T—H 1,922,000
December 2009 —EZENETNAH 3,066,000
January 2010 R FRE—N 622,000
February 2010 “E-FHETNH 722,000

8,820,000

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.
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B It K SRR F
HKS$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT .
1.86 1.66 4,329,040
2.06 1.84 3,697,380
2.57 2.06 6,863,480
2.95 2.49 1,715,140
2.63 2.55 1,895,460
18,500,500
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual

report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the
purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. The
audit committee comprises the independent non-executive

directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and works of the audit committee is set

out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased
to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s

annual report for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintain
a good corporate governance with an emphasis on the
principles of transparency, accountability and independence
to all shareholders. The Company believes that good
corporate governance is an essence for a continual growth
and enhancement of shareholders’ value. Throughout the year
under review, the Company has applied the principles of and
complied with most of the code provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) with the exception of code
provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the CG Code which are explained
below. The Company periodically reviews its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development

of corporate governance.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the

Company are summarised as follows:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Responsibilities

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of
prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed
and managed; delegate authorities to the management to
manage and supervise the business of the Group; and ensure the

management monitor performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the
division of responsibilities between the Board and management.
Certain responsibilities or functions have been delegated
by the Board to the management which include the day-to-
day business operation of the Group, execution of corporate
strategies, business and financial plans and budgets approved
by the Board and preparation of annual and interim financial
statements. The Board has reserved for its decisions matters
of the Group covering the approval of significant changes
in accounting or capital structure; approval of public
announcements and the financial statements; approval of major
acquisitions, disposals and major capital projects; approval of
material borrowings and any issuing or buying back of equity
securities; approval of the annual budget and setting of the

dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises 9 directors consisting
of 6 executive directors and 3 independent non-executive
directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the

Board and Board’s Committees:

Board of Directors

£ 0

Executive directors

HATHF
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
BB ()

Corporate Governance Report
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o 401 ()

HF AT
AAFEFFUFENILLAES > BFEALATH
FREABIIEATESF -

EHGREFZE TR RRERIIRT
#:

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)

WA (FHH )
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
SCAK

Yip Wai Keung

L

Wu Wing Biu

WK BR

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson (appointed on 1 April 2010)
WS (R = FENH — HEZLE)

Independent non-executive directors

T v I B AT #F
Leung Mei Han
P

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
PR A=

Hiroshi Zaizen

B A

i Executive Committee ! | Audit Committee

 mirERA L i weane

: E Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) \ 1+ 1 Leung Mei Han (Chairman)
DRI () LR ()

: E Wu Mei Yung, Quinly ' Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
A oL A

© + Man Wing Cheung, Ellis ¢+ | . Hiroshi Zaizen

POk R S

E E Yip Wai Keung E E

SRR --gg

............................

Co Company Secretary

D AR

! | Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
DR L

o .+ Remuneration Committee P
L WMRAA L
v+ Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Chairman) .
L WRE () ;

1 Leung Mei Han Pk
Lo RS P
' ' 1 Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (.
LA -

.....................................................
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time to
time pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The relationship among some members of the Board are
disclosed under “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”

in this Annual Report.

Board Meeting

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well

as other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the
year ended 31 March 2010 and the attendance record of each

director is set out below:

o 401 ()

EH Y () B A A R R B TR
S B B E S I 7 DA T 88 4 P A A SRS R

AR R B R B AR TR A AR R [ K
A BN B R R A ] T e e

Pk

LEVS 98 3] xS

A AR N ST Bk DA B T AR 4
R SR~ B T A B Rt b A 2
EIRA U R E RS o

ERARBEE_F-ZE=H=+HILEE
FEA PR Y S 9 T o T A% T S Y RS R
ﬁﬁ]ﬂﬂ? :

Number of Number of Average

Name of directors Board Meetings attendance attendance rate
HWPEHH WHEARRY HiY RS 3 R %
Executive directors Ky
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen WES (FF)

(Chairman) 4 4 100%
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly LB

(Managing Director) (FHFHAP) 4 4 100%
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCKFE 4 4 100%
Yip Wai Keung MR 4 4 100%
Wu Wing Biu 1 KB 4 4 100%
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson (Note) BB (HfaETE) N/A A5 H N/A A H N/A A%
Independent non-executive B JE AT P

directors
Leung Mei Han BRI 4 4 100%
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter S A 4 4 100%
Hiroshi Zaizen UETRS 4 4 100%
Note: Mt -

Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson has been appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 1 April 2010.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors
at least 14 days before the meetings while reasonable notice
is generally given for other Board meetings. For committee
meetings, notices are served in accordance with the required

notice period stated in the relevant terms of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all directors or committee
members at least 3 days before each Board meeting and each
committee meeting to keep the directors or committee members
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of
the Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.
All directors are encouraged to take independent professional
advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the performance of
their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board and each
director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time
frame after each meeting and the final version is open for

directors’ inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered material by the Board,
the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent Board

committee will be set up to deal with the matter.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Independence and Relationship

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least 3 independent non-executive directors
with at least one of them possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or financial management
expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules. The Company has received a written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive director of
his/her independence and the Company considers the existing
independent non-executive directors to be independent under
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules up to the date of this Annual Report.

Biographical details and relevant relationships among the
directors are set out in the “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” section in the Report of the Directors of this

Annual Report.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election
Appointment

Although the Company has not set up a nomination committee,
the Board is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of directors, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of directors and assessing

the independence of independent non-executive directors.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition
regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of

the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out
the selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship
of the Company by reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge and personal integrity of the proposed
candidates, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory

requirements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)
Appointment (continued)

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure proper understanding of the operations
and business of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and

relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever

necessary.

Re-election

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”), one-third of the directors for
the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation for re-election by
shareholders at annual general meeting, such that every director
is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three

years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, all independent non-executive directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association. As such, the Board considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those
in the CG Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Re-election (continued)

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill
a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after their appointment. Every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. In accordance with the Articles of Association, any
director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and shall
then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that such a
deviation is not material as casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy

and the immediate following annual general meeting is short.

Roles of Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Dr. Wu Mei Yung,
Quinly hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director,
respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly

defined and set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the
support of the executive directors and senior management, the
Managing Director is responsible for managing the Group’s
business, including implementation of objectives, policies
and major strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board. She
is also in charge of the Company’s day-to-day operation in

accordance with the instructions from the Board.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely
the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with specific written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are available to

shareholders upon request.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in July 2001 and all

of its members are executive directors.

The main duties and responsibilities of the Executive
Committee include approval and execution of the corporate
guarantees to be provided by the Company to individual
bankers in respect of the banking facilities granted to any
member of the Group, including wholly-owned subsidiaries,
non-wholly-owned subsidiaries and associated corporations

within the meaning of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in July 2000 with
specific written terms of reference which set out its role
and function and all of its members are independent non-
executive directors, one of them possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. As at the date of this Annual Report, the
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han (Chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Hiroshi

Zaizen.

The Audit Committee will conduct, on behalf of the Board, an
annual review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial

reporting function and training programmes and budget.

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include,

inter alia, the following:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditors, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of

that auditors;

to review and monitor the external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the

audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

to develop and implement policy on the engagement of

external auditors to supply non-audit services;

to report to the Board, identifying any matters in respect
of which it considers that action or improvement is
needed and making recommendations as to the steps to
be taken;

Review of financial information of the Company

)

to monitor the integrity of the financial statements,
review the annual and interim reports, and review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in

them before submission to the Board;

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and

internal control procedures

()

(2)

to review the financial controls, internal control and risk

management systems;

to discuss with the management the system of internal
control and ensure that management has discharged
its duty to have an effective internal control system
including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training

programmes and budget;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and

internal control procedures (continued)

(h)

()

@

)

M

(m)

()

to consider any findings of major investigations of
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on

its own initiative and management’s response;

to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors and to ensure that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Company, and to review and monitor the

effectiveness of the internal audit function;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies
and practices;

to review the external auditors’ management letter,
any material queries raised by the external auditors
to the management in respect of the accounting
records, financial statements or systems of control and

management’ S response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response
to the issues raised in the external auditors’ management

letter;
to report to the Board on all matters set out in the code
provisions in relation to the Audit Committee contained

in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules; and

to consider any other topics, as defined by the Board.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year

ended 31 March 2010 to review the accounting principles

and practices adopted by the Group and discuss internal

controls and financial reporting matters including a review of

the interim financial statements for the six months ended 30

September 2009 and the annual financial statement for the year
ended 31 March 2009 of the Company. The Audit Committee
has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2010 of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year

are set out below:

wAPE (8)
#REE ()

FEZ B AR A B R RO SRS R

Name of the Number of Audit Number of Average
committee members Committee Meetings attendance attendance rate
ZHERBE WA HEREH A ERKY i) RS 3 R R
Leung Mei Han (Chairman of PLE S|

the Audit Committee) (FEHZEEFNE) 2 2 100%
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter BREA 2 100%
Hiroshi Zaizen ETRS 2 100%
Remuneration Committee FMZEARE

The Remuneration Committee was established in September

2005 with specific written terms of reference which set out

its role and function and is constituted by one executive

director, namely Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Chairman of the

Remuneration Committee) and two independent non-executive

directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang,

Peter.

The duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee

include, inter alia, the following:

(a)

(b)

to review and consider the management recommendations
and the Company’s policy, procedures and structure for
the remuneration and other remuneration related matters
for directors and senior management to ensure there shall
be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy
on executive directors’ remuneration and for fixing the

remuneration packages for all directors;

to have the delegated responsibility to determine the
specific remuneration package of all executive directors
and senior management, and make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive

directors;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

(©

(d)

©)

()

(2)

to review and approve performance-based remuneration
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved

by the Board from time to time;

to review and approve the compensation payable
to executive directors and senior management in
connection with any loss or termination of their office or

appointment;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of directors for

misconduct;

to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates is

involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

to advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any
service contracts of directors that requires shareholders’

approval under the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee had convened one meeting

during the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration

policy and structure, and the remuneration of all directors

for the year under review. Details of the emoluments of each

director of the Company are set out in note 8 to the financial

statements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during

the year are set out below:

wAPE (8)
W2 B ()

i 2 B AR A B0 R O SRR B 0 R

Name of the Number of Remuneration Number of Average
committee members Committee Meetings attendance attendance rate
ZHERBE WA e S8 i) RS 3 R R
Executive directors iy
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly [iE 32

(Chairman of the (FZ= B & 5)

Remuneration Committee) 1 1 100%
Independent non-executive BiSr AT

directors
Leung Mei Han I 1 1 100%
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter 1 e 1 1 100%

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
Company’s code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by directors of the Company (the “Code of Conduct”). Having
made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of Conduct
throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities
Transaction by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees
Code”) on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for
securities transactions by the employees who are likely to be
in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees

Code by the employees was noted by the Company.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2010. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2010, appropriate accounting principles
and policies are selected and applied consistently; judgments
and estimates made are appropriate and reasonable; and these
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern

basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board
with such information and explanations as are necessary to
enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company’s financial information and position, which are of the

Company put before the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of both annual and interim
reports, price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory

requirements.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditors,
Messrs. Ernst & Young (“E&Y”), are set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 46 to 47 of this Annual Report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s

ability to continue as a going concern.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

E&Y have been re-appointed as the Company’s external
auditors by shareholders at the 2009 annual general meeting
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting. They
are primarily responsible for providing audit services in
connection with the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2010.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(continued)

External Auditors’ Remuneration (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2010, E&Y received
approximately HK$2,040,000 (2009: HK$1,950,000) for audit
and related services and HK$563,000 (2009: HK$479,000) for
other non-audit services which include the taxation services.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls
and reviewing its effectiveness. The system has been designed
to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business
objective. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss
or fraud. The Board has delegated to the management the
implementation of the strategies and policies on internal
controls and risk management adopted by the Board and the
review of relevant financial, operational and compliance

controls and risk management procedures.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and

their training programmes and budget.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual

reports, announcements and circulars.

The Company maintains a website at www.fourseasgroup.
com.hk as a communication platform with shareholders and
investors, where information and updates on the Company’s
announcements, business developments/operations and other

information are available for public access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum
for communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board and Board committees actively
participate in the annual general meeting and answer questions
from the shareholders. Separate resolutions are proposed for
each substantial issue at the annual general meeting. Notice of
the annual general meeting together with related papers are sent
to the shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
meeting, setting out details of each proposed resolution, voting
procedures and other relevant information. All resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings including the annual general
meeting will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and of the Company after each shareholder meeting.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B ZBERE

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

7 K
=z 7
To the shareholders of
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited set out on pages 48 to 187,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2010, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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Ernst & Young ZAREEMHEHR
18th Floor BHETIRE AR

FPE & Fh 028 1812

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central
Hong Kong
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To the shareholders of
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
(continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 16 July 2010

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Consolidated Income Statement

e W aE R

Year ended 31 March 2010 2= —-ZEF=A=+—HLFE

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains/
(losses), net

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other operating expenses

Impairment of available-for-sale
investments

Gain on disposal of interests in
an associate

Excess over the cost of business
combinations

Finance costs

Share of profits and losses
of associates

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

— Basic and diluted

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are

B A
B AR

EBA

HoAb e A B W2,
(& 18) - #H
Y i i

AT BB ¢

Lt 85 48 B 52
AT At A 4R 2 A

H A — ] B 4 2

HE 2 2 W

830 S 5 £ DF AR

ZAKIH
Tl A

B A Mg 2 > ) ¥ ) S

s 11

B e i ¥k A

Fie 45 Bt A 32

A A ik

b Jag %

A2 Vi) B 2 T A
7 BB AR 2

7 2 i) ¥ T HE 2 BT AT
M A 5 B 2 A
— REA B i 9

disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.
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Notes

U

10

11

13

2010
e
HK$’000
BT
2,347,582

(1,702,446)
645,136
36,533

(369,701)

(195,655)
(11,358)

387
(12,676)

7,369

100,035

(16,716)

83,319

86,440

(3,121)

83,319

HK cents
Al

218

2009
ZERFE
HKS$°000
BT
2,290,626
(1,692,244)
598,382
(18,091)
(357,615)
(200,165)
(8,193)
(36,342)

87,144

50,638
(20,504)

11,519

106,773

(16,236)

90,537

105,048

(14,511)

90,537

HK cents
Al

26.3

A B A AR B E A5 I 8 T i B B A A U B
Bk M aE129 o



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

meEEZHEBaE R

Year ended 31 March 2010 2 =—ZE—ZFE=A=+—HILFE

2010 2009
R R ZRRIE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Bt it T o V- ¥ aTn
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A e A 83,319 90,537
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 2wk OE#)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Available-for-sale investments: At R
Changes in fair value NVES ) 22,028 (20,730)
Reclassification adjustments for FakmRz W,
gains/(losses) included in the () Z F=H
consolidated income statement 43 JH i B
— gains on disposal —HEZIE 5 (27,637) (1,041)
— impairment losses — VAE 5 1R 7 - 36,342
Income tax effect Pt 5 i 5 28 - -
(5,609) 14,571
Share of other comprehensive Ay M 82 ) Y HE At
income of associates 2 R 2R 155 1,918
Exchange differences on translation 5L /b 2E % i) I 50
of foreign operations FR 849 10,743
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AR N Al A i Wk 2
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE Ol #) (BrBEfR)
YEAR, NET OF TAX (4,605) 27,232
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AR P 48 2 i 3%
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 78,714 117,769
Attributable to: SR
Equity holders of the Company N/ E 11 81,802 131,621
Minority interests A Y T SRR A (3,088) (13,852)
78,714 117,769

moM % mAE R LA e = — 8 8% 49
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e %R R

31 March 2010 ZE2—Z&=HA=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

Prepaid land lease payments
Goodwill

Non-current livestock
Interests in associates
Available-for-sale investments
Deposits

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from associates

Current livestock

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables, other payables and

accruals

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

F i By

i3k - W Kl
BeEY R

T AT A A B Ak
[Ekiy

FEEMEE

T B = W Z ME A
AT A R
HE

9 JiE B JH

FE By A

i B ¥

RE Wi T % 2 W
HHEE

&

VW B 5 Rk
PP ~ 5T 4 K Al
JE WALk T

A Wi e A

Bl M Bl & I H

B B AR A

i B £ 1%

JEAF B 5 Bk ~ FoAth
T A sk S J% B it £ £

JH BT A B Z SR AT Bk

JE A5 5 2

i) A AR

L ) 2F s v

B4R A R B 4 A
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Notes

Witk

14
15
16
17
18
20
21
25
29

20
22
23
24

25

26

27
28

2010

—R R

HK$°000
T T

481,257
15,356
151,658
35,551
706
146,398
65,039
17,941
1,299

915,205
369
4,212
190,167
439,808
97,620
7,157

509,260

1,248,593

297,124
656,056
15,910

969,090

279,503

1,194,708

2009

e
HKS$’000
1T

487,621
15,310
154,724
34,607
1,129
139,304
52,619
18,466
1,299

905,079
296
4,528
167,971
429,687
94,535
1,087

482,903

1,181,007

277,204
756,614
17,179

1,050,997

130,010

1,035,089



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e 0B R

31 March 2010 Z&—Z&=A=+—H

2010 2009
R -FE ZERRE
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Bt ik BT BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES J U By 11 4
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH BT B Z SR AT B 28 154,625 22,763
Deferred tax liabilities A 30 5 T £ K 29 18,412 18,487
Total non-current liabilities Fh I B A AR AR 173,037 41,250
Net assets g R 1,021,671 993,839
EQUITY HE 25
Equity attributable to equity 5 B85 A AR 8 i) R At
holders of the Company R iR L £
Issued capital CEHAT AR 30 39,074 39,956
Reserves i A 32(a) 952,419 915,619
Proposed final dividend R B BB 12 19,537 19,978
1,011,030 975,553
Minority interests A B B B 10,641 18,286
Total equity HE o HEAH 1,021,671 993,839

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ i 1!
Director # F

YIP Wai Keung % {3 i
Director #%F

Mo &= ®AERAR - =T — 2 F 5% 5
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2010 §E=—E—ZF=B=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

REREATERKHE
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Exchange Proposed
Issied  premium  Reserve Revaluation ~ Capital revaluation  fluctuation  Refained final Minority Total
capifal ~ account funds reserve Teserve Teserve reserve profits  dividend Total ~interests equity
L
GLTI ] BEEN  ERUH AN DURK
BA o ROE BEE EWRE WARE B BEORERN  RE O M ER EEBE
Note HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'O00  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Wit i #iFr ERTL BETT O BNFL ENTL BRFT ERTL BEFT ENTL BETLD O BN
(Note 32(a)) ~ (Note 3(a)) (Note 32(a))
(i) (Kt (Kt
At 1 April 2008 REBZNERA—H 39956 24019 3885 26,008 50 (14391) 646 497926 19978 871,948 3 J42%
Total comprehensive ERERERE
income for the year - - - - - 14571 12,002 105,048 - 131,621 (13852) 117,769
Contribution by a HERREREE
minority shareholder - - - - - - - - - - 490 490
Acquisiton of additional AT EHR
inferests n a B2
non-wholly-owned MR
subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - (700) (700)
Disposal of n associate f & A - - 41 - - - - - - 47 - @
Final 2008 dvidend ~~ ER-FRNE
declared KARE - - - - - - - - (199 (199m) - (199
Ierim 009 dvidend ~ “ERAECHRE 1 - - - - - - SN ) - 1% - 1%
Proposed final 2009 RRNERA
dividend ARA 2 - - - - - - - (991 19978 - - -
Transfer to reserve funds— EHE R4 - - 967 - - - - (%7) - - - -
At 31 March 2009 REFFVEZAZT-0 3995 240,190 4805% 26,008% 750¢ 180 69.648%  §74038¢ 9978 9155 1828 993839
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Year ended 31 March2010§z§ Z-2F +—BLFEE
Atributable to equity holders of the Company
BERAERTERIAE
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital ~ Exchange Proposed
Issued ~ premium  Reserve Revaluation  Capifal revaluation redemption fluctuation  Refained final Minority Total
capital  account funds ~ reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  dividend Total  interests equity
ik E
LTI ] BUEHE WRRE  ERNE HRAN PURK
BA R0k RB2 EGRE WARE BB B B ORERN RD & BR O OEEEN
Notes HES'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKSO000  HEKS'000  HKS'000
Wit EEFT BT EWTL ENET BEFC BEFL ENTL ERFT BRFD BEREL ERTL ERET ERFL
(Note 32(a)) (Note 32(a)) (Note 32(a))
W) (Kitim) (Kitiz)
At 1 April 2009 REBENERA-H 3995 240,19 4805 26,008 750 180 - 0068 T4 1998 9153 18286 993839
Total comprehensive ERERERE
income for the year - - - - - (5609 - 7 86440 - L8 (3088 78T
Acquisiton of a subsidiary A~ FI B4 - - - - - - - - - - - 19 19
Acquisiion of additional A~ MR EHH
interests in a WA
non-wholly-owned LR
subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - @) W)
Find 2009 dividend ~ ER_FFAE
declred KARE - - - - - - - - - (99T (19978 - (19T
Repurchase of shares TR IR 0 (8 (17618 - - - - 8 - - (1830 - (1850
Interim 2000 dividend ~ ~F-FAMHRA 2 - - - - - - - - (1) - (18 -
Proposed final 2010 “R-RhRR
dividend KHRE 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer o reserve funds~ BEZ R4 - - 4 - - - - - 41 - - - -
Release of revaluation ~~ H6 LHRIET L Ef
reserve on leasehold FrRBRER B
land and buildings to
retained profits - - - (535) - - - - 335 - - - -
At 31 March 2010 REZ-BEZAZ4-H 004 msmr A8 25T B0% (5429 §82¢ T0619% 632700+ 19537 L0130 10641 020671
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * B EE A AR B RN EP Z A

HK$952,419,000 (2009: HK$915,619,000) in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

Mo & B & R 2 A

e -=® -2 % %% 53

952,419,000%5 JC (ZFF LA : 915,619,000%57C)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2010 2= —-ZEF=A=+—HLFE

2010 2009
SRR “EENE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hi ik BT HWFor
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BB
ACTIVITIES ZBEHE
Profit before tax Wiz At T 34 A 100,035 106,773
Adjustments for: T3 & T A A
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE AN Wik 2 /s ) ¥k ) I i 1R (7,369) (11,519)
Bank interest income BATH B WA 5 (597) (5,165)
Dividend income from listed investments bt EZ B EWRA 5 (742) (899)
Fair value gains on available-for-sale L EREZ
investments A E 5 (27,637) (1,041)
Increase in fair value less estimated WEREENEEHH
point-of-sale costs attributable to S8 2 /- FAE B
physical change on non-current W R AR
livestock 7 ) (10)
Increase in fair value less estimated 5 A R 1 A AR
point-of-sale costs attributable to L PN R
price change on non-current livestock TRTE FE B 2 A 7 (43) 42
Finance costs il AR 6 12,676 20,504
Loss on disposal of items of property, W& - BB K
plant and equipment %M Z 6 1R 7 2,236 1,793
Depreciation e 7 43,601 37,671
Recognition of prepaid land lease R A L3
payments Gi-E 16 4,080 3,612
Amortisation of non-current livestock E i E S 3 7 361 944
Impairment of available-for-sale CR:iE- 513
investments Z Wl 7 - 36,342
Gain on disposal of interest in 8 — R 8 A ]
an associate 25 2 Wtk 7 - (87,144)
Excess over the cost of business LR HE S EERIITIT
combinations ZHH 7 (387) (50,638)
Impairment of trade receivables JRE W B 5 R ok A 7 1,445 1,525
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) WA B,
of slow-moving inventories (A 338 1m0 ) 7 (1,048) 6,556
126,602 59,346
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)
- PAGE 54

Decrease/(increase) in non-current livestock
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from
associates
Decrease/(increase) in current livestock
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Increase in trade payables, other

payables and accruals

Cash generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax paid

Overseas taxes paid

Net cash flows from operating

activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Bank interest received

Dividends received from listed investments

Dividends received from associates

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment

Purchases of prepaid land lease payments

Proceeds from disposal of items
of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale investments

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Acquisition of additional interest in a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary

Disposal of an associate

Purchases of available-for-sale investments

Net cash flows from/(used in)

investing activities — page 56

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

Year ended 31 March 2010 2 =—ZE—ZFE=A=+—HILFE

BEREMBZ
BLeu R (5)
(54H)

FEMBE WD/ ()

FE W Tt % A ) 2
WA/ (Hm)

HHBEHEZRD /()

FREZHm

VE W0 B 5 Wk 2 38 T
TR ~ 7T e LA
JE ek 3 2 38

VEAF B 5% Mok ~ S A FE
AOH B R R 2 3

REXBER G2 B4
O 7 9 A B
T 3L B

REXBER G2 B4
HAFH

BYERB IR R

TR B

WeI L v e 5 M
W 2 A ) B B

L YN/E DY T

i i E

i A\ TR b o L B O
X/ B Y E ]
Y H Bk

A T
Pk JH

W O J 2 ]
A—HIERE A
Vit 2% 7 < A
o O
S\ i

REEBZBERN/
(W) 3% (568)

2010

~%—%k

Notes HK$’000
Wi it BT

126,602

116

(73)

316
(20,564)
(11,029)

(1,206)

17,939

112,101
(22,072)
(2,107)

87,922

597
742

(37,915)

(866)

81

77,456
33 (908)

(5,600)

(67,826)

(34,239)

N & B AR AT » = =

2009
RIS
HKS$°000
HHT

59,346
(170)
3,341
(1,136)

(30,536)
(12,905)

(10,115)

14,079

21,904
(13,960)
(483)

7,461

5,165
899
3,994

(44,052)

38

4,829
(23,344)

(4,536)

137,539
(21,375)

59,157



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RMERERER

Year ended 31 March 2010 2= —-ZEF=A=+—HLFE

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing

activities — page 55

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans
Repayment of bank and
trust receipt loans
Interest paid
Contribution by a minority shareholder
Dividends paid
Repurchase of shares

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Time deposits with original maturity of

less than three months when acquired

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial
position and the consolidated statement

of cash flows

Notes

i it

REXEHLBERA/
(i) (55H)

i 6 5 2 B Al

7 5 SRAT Bk A w Hi  Bk
AT Bk £ Wi £
Z K
CAA B
A W e AR 5 3
oA
J 10 At oy

il 8 5 ) 2 B R

e RB &S HAEH
B i

FMZBE BB EFHEA

S 32 RRS

FRZBERBE
FHEH

ReRREFMHEH

2NN
B&RBIHR 26
FAHBEHHAR=ZMA

ZE W 26

A B B R VLR K
GEBEENEE
iz B4 &
Bl S HIEH
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2010

L

HK$°000
T

(34,239)

1,091,601
(1,060,492)

(12,676)

(27,825)
(18,500)
(27,892)

25,791

482,903
566

509,260

239,701

269,559

509,260

2009

= ki
HK$°000

ERET

59,157

1,394,375
(1,376,173)
(20,504)

490
(27,969)

(29,781)

36,837

443,701
2,365

482,903

190,127

292,776

482,903



NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries

Available-for-sale investments

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Due from subsidiaries
Prepayments

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to subsidiaries
Accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

Net assets

EQUITY

Issued capital

Reserves

Proposed final dividend

Total equity

F i By

i B s W 2 B

AT A R
FE I W) AR
i B ¥

Y WAL B i 2 )
FEA K IH

Bl B SRAT & Bk
B B AR
i B £ 1%
JEARK Fif Ja 2 W
JE st £ 4
i) A AR
L ) 2F s 1
¥

L

AT A

il i

S e R0 M B

HE 7 A8 fH

Statement of Financial Position

Bt %5 R &

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=H=+—§H

2010

%R

Notes HK$°000
M iE BT T
19 93,098
21 254
93,352

19 554,254
25 149
26 350
554,753

19 312,515
27 879
313,394

241,359

334,711

30 39,074
32(b) 276,100
12 19,537
334,711

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ 7
Director # %

YIP Wai Keung 3 {5 i
Director &%

I N & B AR 2 A e

2009

e
HKS$’000
1T

93,098

120

93,218

521,195
133
263

521,591

264,179
1,036

265,215

256,376

349,594

39,956
289,660
19,978

349,594



Notes to Financial Statements

Br %5 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 —2—E&=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 1. A% x

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
registered office of the Company is located at the offices
of Caledonian Bank & Trust Limited, Caledonian House,
69 Dr. Roy’s Drive, P.O. Box 1043 KY1-1102, George
Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West
Indies.

During the year, the Group’s principal activities consisted
of the manufacturing and trading of snack foods,
confectionery, beverages, frozen food products, noodles,
poultry products, ham and ham-related products, and the
operations of restaurants.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
non-current livestock, an investment property, certain
properties, derivative financial instruments and certain
equity investments, which have been measured at valuation
or fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to

the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2010. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All
income, expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting
from intercompany transactions and intercompany balances

within the Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.
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Ji& % Caledonian Bank & Trust LimitedZ
e > Whk % Caledonian House, 69 Dr.
Roy’s Drive, P.O. Box 1043 KY1-1102,
George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman
Islands, British West Indies °

BN REEZ BB RIE MR
BOBER OB RUAN MR XS
FE i~ KRR K BB B EE o DA KL R
% o

2.1 % 3L

M BB R AW E et AT (T
W Rt B2 € ) AR A 9 S s sk v
(Ao A B ok e 1 | > 3 AR T B i
B il R R (TR ast
Q) Fae ) ~ AW R A Z T EHR
S L A 8 O w9 2 o WL T A A = B
ATHRENEE REWE - HTWE-
A A 4 L R o T i R A
AR > S S 5 R G AR B R S AR
A A o BBl A ([ ) =2
5 s B A GEWIH AL > P e 3 2 fr &
AT

55 A M H 2%

Ao B S A L A A ) R R 4
(MW IAEE]) BREF-FE=ZNH
St HILFEEZMERE - MEARZ
SRR E WO F ST (P A 4 0 I
Mz H)REAE > LMD AERA
TGt EEREA B EZ H 2L -
Fi A 4R M 24 ] TR 2 52 5 P e A Z O ~ B
3¢~ AR BWEE T e H DL B A ) 2 A5 A
BOREEIRE F2EE -



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
This method involves allocating the cost of the business
combinations to the fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly

attributable to the acquisition.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside
shareholders not held by the Group in the results and net
assets of the Company’s subsidiaries. An acquisition of
minority interests is accounted for using the parent entity
extension method whereby the difference between the
consideration and the book value of the share of the net

assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2010 —E—F&£=H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to new
and revised accounting policies and additional disclosures,
the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs has had no

2.2t R B B 2 2 )

AR B A B BB R R AT R
R AT M REAG T A o B 5 e i R T o BRAE
TG UUT B AR AT M ARRAE AT A BUOR U
B BION P FR A > PR A% SR AT M AR T A
8 S 5 i o v U S T R i S R

significant effect on these financial statements. R o
HKERS 1 and HKAS 27 Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of T vl BB ot e ) iy s SR At e
Amendments HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and B RB R AT BH AR
Separate Financial Statements - Cost of L RATIFN B E N E7 A 7
an Investment in a Subsidiary, B B - B
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate K] G ER A E A A
WREHA ]I A
HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKERS 2 Share-based Payment BEMBRE RGN AR B R
— Vesting Conditions and Cancellations P& TIEN VEELLLE S 1 i
Rt /2Bl &
HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKERS 7 Financial Instruments: BEMBERE R SRR BRI AR 28
Disclosures — Improving Disclosures about P& SIS IR HFE-AZELHIA
Financial Instruments i/ A4 TIES
HKFRS § Operating Segments BEMBRE RS  [AESH
HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements ?%ﬁﬁfﬁ”%l% [HE#RENZT]
(&)
HKAS 18 Amendment* Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 Revenue B a TN 189 vl gt o S 895 T -
— Determining whether an entity is acting as BT A HEAREN #FNGRH
a principal or as an agent iﬁiﬁ)ﬁijzﬁu‘% i
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs ?%ﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁ”%%% [ EHA]
(&)
HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: BEAEAEER AR 2 L
Amendments Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of At A 2B G HER
Financial Statements - Puttable Financial B BT A EUR B HENZT
Instruments and Obligations Arising -2/ TAREH
on Liquidation LA 3 AEATIES
HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment BB (ERMERERE  ASEBRHEREIRZE
HKAS 39 Amendments of Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39 ZEE)-HBER q) - R/ EH AN
Financial Instruments: Recognition LA N WAL TR BT
and Measurement — Embedded Derivatives EoZ BT A CHE S ER A
WAt & - AL E
THRIZETR
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes B (BB ERERE  [FALHL )
ZHE)-RBEDYE
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate B (BBHERERE [ FERERE/
ZHE)-RBEISH
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation il (AWM RE S EFRE T
ZHE)- R BA165
HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers B (EBHERERE [HEFEAEE/ (-

Improvements to HKFRSs
(October 2008)

(adopted from 1 July 2009)
Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

* Included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in May

2009).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised
HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements — Cost of an Investment in a

Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

The HKAS 27 Amendment requires all dividends from
subsidiaries, associates or jointly-controlled entities
to be recognised in the income statement in the
parent’s separate financial statements. The distinction
between pre and post acquisition profits is no longer
required. However, the payment of such dividends
requires the Company to consider whether there is an
indicator of impairment. The amendment is applied
prospectively. HKAS 27 has also been amended to
deal with the measurement of the cost of investments
where a parent reorganises the structure of its group
by establishing a new entity as its parent. The HKFRS
1 Amendment allows a first-time adopter of HKFRSs
to measure its investments in subsidiaries, associates
or jointly-controlled entities using a deemed cost. As
the Group is not a first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the
HKFRS 1 Amendment is not applicable to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment —

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

The HKFRS 2 Amendments clarify that vesting
conditions are service conditions and performance
conditions only. Any other conditions are non-
vesting conditions. Where an award does not vest as
a result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition
that is within the control of either the entity or the
counterparty, this is accounted for as a cancellation.
As the Group has not entered into share-based
payment schemes with non-vesting conditions
attached, the amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or results of operations of the

Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=A=+—8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(©)

(d)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Improving Disclosures about Financial

Instruments

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional
disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity
risk. Fair value measurements related to items
recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by sources
of inputs using a three-level fair value hierarchy,
by class, for all financial instruments recognised
at fair value. In addition, a reconciliation between
the beginning and ending balances is now required
for level 3 fair value measurements, as well as
significant transfers between levels in the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value measurement disclosures are
presented in note 39 to the financial statements. The
amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity
risk disclosures with respect to derivative transactions
and assets used for liquidity management. As the
Group does not have derivative financial liabilities as
at 31 March 2010, the amendments on liquidity risk
disclosures have no impact to the Group.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8, which replaces HKAS 14 Segment
Reporting, specifies how an entity should report
information about its operating segments, based on
information about the components of the entity that
is available to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of allocating resources to the segments
and assessing their performance. The standard also
requires the disclosure of information about the
products and services provided by the segments,
the geographical areas in which the Group operates,
and revenue from the Group’s major customers.
The Group concluded that the operating segments
determined in accordance with HKFRS 8 are the same
as the business segments previously identified under
HKAS 14. These revised disclosures, including the
related revised comparative information, are shown in

note 4 to the financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(e) HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial

()

Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the
presentation and disclosures of financial statements.
The revised standard separates owner and non-owner
changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity
includes only details of transactions with owners,
with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a
single line. In addition, this standard introduces the
statement of comprehensive income, with all items
of income and expense recognised in profit or loss,
together with all other items of recognised income
and expense recognised directly in equity, either in
one single statement, or in two linked statements. The

Group has elected to present two statements.

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 Revenue —
Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal

or as an agent

Guidance has been added to the appendix (which
accompanies the standard) to determine whether the
Group is acting as a principal or as an agent. The
features to consider are whether the Group (i) has
the primary responsibility for providing the goods or
services, (ii) has inventory risk, (iii) has the discretion
to establish prices and (iv) bears credit risk. The
Group has assessed its revenue arrangements against
these criteria and concluded that it is acting as a
principal in all arrangements. The amendment has
had no impact on the financial position or results of

operations of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(2)

(h)

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation
of borrowing costs when such costs are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset. As the Group’s
current policy for borrowing costs aligns with the
requirements of the revised standard, the revised
standard has had no impact on the financial position or

results of operations of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Puttable Financial Instruments and

Obligations Arising on Liquidation

The HKAS 32 Amendments provide a limited scope
exception for puttable financial instruments and
instruments that impose specified obligations arising
on liquidation to be classified as equity if they
fulfil a number of specified features. The HKAS 1
Amendments require disclosure of certain information
relating to these puttable financial instruments
and obligations classified as equity. As the Group
currently has no such financial instruments or
obligations, the amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or results of operations of the
Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(1)

Q)

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment
of Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement —
Embedded Derivatives

The amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 requires an
entity to assess whether an embedded derivative must
be separated from a host contract when the entity
reclassifies a hybrid financial asset out of the fair
value through profit or loss category. This assessment
is to be made based on circumstances that existed on
the later of the date the entity first became a party to
the contract and the date of any contract amendments
that significantly change the cash flows of the
contract. HKAS 39 has been revised to state that if an
embedded derivative cannot be separately measured,
the entire hybrid instrument must remain classified
as fair value through profit or loss in its entirety. The
adoption of the amendments has had no impact on
the financial position or results of operations of the

Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HKIFRIC)-Int 13 requires customer loyalty award
credits to be accounted for as a separate component
of the sales transaction in which they are granted.
The consideration received in the sales transaction is
allocated between the loyalty award credits and the
other components of the sale. The amount allocated to
the loyalty award credits is determined by reference
to their fair value and is deferred until the awards are
redeemed or the liability is otherwise extinguished.
The adoption of this interpretation has had no

significant effect on these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(k) HK{AFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of

@

Real Estate

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 replaces HK Interpretation 3
Revenue — Pre-completion Contracts for the Sale
of Development Properties. It clarifies when and
how an agreement for the construction of real estate
should be accounted for as a construction contract in
accordance with HKAS 11 Construction Contracts
or an agreement for the sale of goods or services in
accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue. As the Group
currently is not involved in any construction of real
estate, the interpretation has had no impact on the
financial position or results of operations of the
Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a

Foreign Operation

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 provides guidance on the
accounting for a hedge of a net investment in a
foreign operation. This includes clarification that
(i) hedge accounting may be applied only to the
foreign exchange differences arising between the
functional currencies of the foreign operation and the
parent entity; (ii) a hedging instrument may be held
by any entities within a group; and (iii) on disposal
of a foreign operation, the cumulative gain or loss
relating to both the net investment and the hedging
instrument that was determined to be an effective
hedge should be reclassified to the income statement
as a reclassification adjustment. As the Group
currently has no hedge of a net investment in a foreign
operation, the interpretation has had no impact on
the financial position or results of operations of the

Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(m) HKAFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

()

(adopted from 1 July 2009)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 provides guidance on accounting
by recipients that receive from customers items
of property, plant and equipment or cash for the
acquisition or construction of such items, provided
that these assets must then be used to connect
customers to networks or to provide ongoing access to
a supply of goods or services, or both. As the Group
currently has no such transactions, the interpretation
has had no impact on the financial position or results

of operations of the Group.

In October 2008, the HKICPA issued its first
Improvements to HKFRSs which sets out amendments
to a number of HKFRSs. Except for the amendments
to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations — Plan to Sell the
Controlling Interest in a Subsidiary which is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009,
the Group adopted all the amendments from 1 April
2009. While the adoption of some of the amendments
results in changes in accounting policies, none of
these amendments has had a significant financial
impact to the Group. Details of the key amendments

most applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
Removes the reference to “total interest income”

as a component of finance costs.

e HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Clarifies that assets and liabilities which are
classified as held for trading in accordance with
HKAS 39 are not automatically classified as

current in the statement of financial position.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(n) (continued)

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Replaces the term “net selling price” with “fair
value less costs to sell” and the recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell

and its value in use.

In addition, items of property, plant and
equipment held for rental that are routinely sold
in the ordinary course of business after rental are
transferred to inventories when rental ceases and

they are held for sale.

HKAS 28 Investments in Associates: Clarifies
that an investment in an associate is a single asset
for the purpose of conducting the impairment test
and that no impairment is separately allocated to

goodwill included in the investment balance.

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets: When
discounted cash flows are used to estimate “fair
value less costs to sell”, additional disclosures
(e.g., discount rate and growth rate used) are
required which are consistent with the disclosures
required when the discounted cash flows are used

to estimate “value in use”.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS | (Revised)

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 1 Amendment

HKEFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 9

HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 Amendment

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

Amendments to
HKFRS 5 included in
Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

HK Interpretation 4
(Revised in December 2009)

Improvements to HKFRSs
(May 2009)

Improvements to HKFRSs
(May 2010)

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards !

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards -
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters*

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards -
Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters *

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment -
Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions *

Business Combinations '

Financial Instruments ©

Related Party Disclosures 3

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements '

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement - Eligible
Hedged ltems !

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of
a Minimum Funding Requirement ®

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners !

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments *

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Plan to
Sell the Controlling Interest in a Subsidiary '

Leases - Determination of the Length of Lease
Term in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases *
Amendments to a number of HKFRSs ’

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs *

Notes to Financial Statements

BY %5 8 & MY &

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=H=+—§H

2.3 Tl AE R A 3 2 A s WU B

o i

A ARSI AR 7 A S 5 S A v B DL T B
A AEL 1o A 2 S8CH T W S MG AT A o B

e o
BB AR ()
bR At Fd LS

bR At Fd LS

BB R R B A

B BB R 0% (S 053T)
B BB ) osk

B Gt A 04t (B 15T

B G TR A 075E (B H3T)
R A5 2 BT A

BlEHEIARZ BT A

Bk (R HRGREZAE)
-t BRI BTk

B (HBHERERREZAS)
~ R RE17H

B (HBMERERREZAS)
— R 195

FRHERERAASE 2 BTk
SEAR0085 107 Bz
BRIBHFEN NN

BRI CERAE
+ZRER)
BEMBR N L
(CEFAELA)
BEMHR N L
(ZF-%ELA)

=

N & B B R A A e

HRRAREM SRR

s e Eab Ay
RHERHERTEN
-HREREHZ
BEIZBTR

s e Eab Ay
RAFRHER TN
-BAERE I ER
BURTHUBHNR
HE2HRERA]

Z BTk

E S AR S
REZ -5 BY H 24
HZRBENZSZ
i A

[2ER ]!

[ IA

(BN HE]

(G REBHERE]

E R R
(EHIA AT -HR
Vs Ara ik

SRR AR
TA:BZRi -7
R HENREEH)
bd TN

Bl (BB o a R
REG)-RRAIEIRE
BB F A
Z ik

[ FEA AL FE]

(Wl LREH AR

BB RS A
HEZFRIRERRL
HERE-i A EWT
Vdibdid ¢ iilkd TIES

HE-BEF#LUHEL
RHAR:

SHRBRHREEN L
Bk

SHRBRHREEN L
ik

-2 — =2 5 £8 9



Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=A=+—8

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2. 30 U A8 AR A B 2 s s R

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 and Improvements
to HKFRSs 2010 which sets out amendments to a
number of HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing
inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The amendments to
HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HKJFRIC)-Int 9 and HK(IFRIC)-Int
16 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009 while the amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS
8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 17, HKAS 36 and HKAS
39 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2010 although there are separate transitional
provisions for each standard or interpretation. The
amendments to HKFRS 3 and transition requirements for
amendments arising as a result of HKAS 27 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 while
the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS
34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

© Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 and 1
January 2010, as appropriate

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 and 1
January 2011, as appropriate

HKFRS 1 (Revised) was issued with an aim to improve
the structure of the standard. The revised version of the
standard does not make any changes to the substance of
accounting by first-time adopters. As the Group is not a
first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not

have any financial impact on the Group.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The HKFRS 1 Amendments provide relief from the full
retrospective application of HKFRSs for the measurement
of oil and gas assets and leases. As a result of extending
the options for determining deemed cost to oil and gas
assets, the existing exemption relating to decommissioning
liabilities has also been revised. As the Group is not a
first-time adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not
have any financial impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 1 Amendment provides first-time adopters
with the same transitional provisions as included in the
amendments to HKFRS 7. The transitional provisions in
HKFRS 7 have been amended to clarify that an entity need
not provide the disclosure required by the amendments to
HKFRS 7 for (i) any annual or interim period, including
any statement of financial position, presented within an
annual comparative period ended before 31 December
2009 or (ii) any statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period as at a date
before 31 December 2009. As the Group is not a first-time
adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments will not have any
financial impact on the Group.

The HKFRS 2 Amendments provide guidance on how to
account for cash-settled share-based payment transactions
in the separate financial statements of the entity receiving
the goods and services when the entity has no obligation
to settle the share-based payment transactions. The
amendments also incorporate guidance that was previously
included in HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2 and
HK{IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions. The amendments are unlikely to have any
significant implications on the Group’s accounting for

share-based payments.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in
the accounting for business combinations that will impact
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in
the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported

results.

Notes to Financial Statements

BY %5 8 & MY &

31 March 2010 —E—E&=A=1+—8H

2.3 O 18R 22 3 2 7 v 0 5

g

wHE (%)

A v T RO B A 1 5% 2 A T ACH St
A i B R AR SR A AL R A T A8 )
OB 7 5 e o S U o R BROR T W
A B R AR SR W) AR 2 R 4 il
AR A EZBA BRI THERT - H
TP 74 5 [ S 3 R AN B A S i o e
S > RZAE R A i 3 A A T A T S 5
2 .

T B SR 1R 2 B RT AR R
TR A0 S AL B A5 9 B 5 R M RN SR TR 2
16 5T A 7 3 22 F I 308 30 A S o A s B S
e o B SR 7% BT R A0 O M R S B AR B
o DM EEBARORKRE_ZZTA
£+ H =+ — H Ak A H i B
551 2 AT 0] A7 3w 0T R o A 5 AT T A
BkiiE s RGHERE _FZ2LE+TH
=+— H RT3 B B Z 5] b g R B
U6 W Z AT B 5 IR DL % o R B U B R
1 1) S 7% 2 MG T A B L Z SR R o
FH A A 45 1 Sl I 7 9 B 4 o B 2 IR
TR » WA BE T A 6 B A4 16 R

U I i o o T SR 2% 2 AT A R
A3 WA F W BB A AT K2 UL
TIPS > e A L B R
P AL DB 5 B 2 R S A sk T PR A
TR o AL R IR 2 Z A (1
MM BB Eg) - BB
V8 Y T 7 R 295 2 i A A v ()
BB RREEE) R
VI 5 R 7 3 S 55 29 — 58 I A R A7 TR 1
X512 4651 o A B G AT A 4R Ay 32
F Z FH B T i BE A oy A R o

A o B B e o J SR 3 5R (RUERT) BIA S
TEAT B A3 6 O 2 o wH I B AL > 35
20 T R B~ WU ) < SR A A

N &E B EBER2AB «» = F - T F F §



Notes to Financial Statements
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2. 30 U A8 AR A B 2 s s R

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of control
is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore,
such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will
it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised
standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the
subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.
Other consequential amendments were made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes,
HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and HKAS 31

Interests in Joint Ventures.

The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 3 (Revised) and
HKAS 27 (Revised) from 1 April 2010. The changes
introduced by these revised standards must be applied
prospectively and will affect the accounting of future
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with minority

interests.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of
phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying
financial assets into four categories, an entity shall
classify financial assets as subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS
39.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety by the end of 2010. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2013.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition
of related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption
of related party disclosure to government-related entities
for transactions with the same government or entities
that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the same government. While the adoption
of the revised standard will result in changes in the
accounting policy, the revised standard is unlikely to have
any impact on the related party disclosures as the Group
currently does not have any significant transactions with

government-related entities.

The HKAS 32 Amendment revises the definition of
financial liabilities such that rights, options or warrants
issued to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own
equity instruments for a fixed amount of any currency
are equity instruments, provided that the entity offers the
rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its existing
owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity
instruments. The Group expects to adopt the HKAS 32
Amendment from 1 April 2011. As the Group currently has
no such rights, options or warrants in issue, the amendment

is unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.

The HKAS 39 Amendment addresses the designation of
a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation
of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular
situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to
designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow
variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item. The
Group expects to adopt the HKAS 39 Amendment from
1 April 2010. As the Group has not entered into any such
hedges, the amendment is unlikely to have any financial

impact on the Group.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments remove an unintended
consequence arising from the treatment of prepayments of
future contributions in certain circumstances when there
is a minimum funding requirement. The amendments
require an entity to treat the benefit of an early payment
as a pension asset. The economic benefit available as
a reduction in future contributions is thus equal to the
sum of (i) the prepayment for future services and (ii) the
estimated future services costs less the estimated minimum
funding requirement contributions that would be required
as if there were no prepayments. As the Group has no
defined benefit scheme, the amendments will not have any

financial impact on the Group.

HKIFRIC)-Int 17 standardises practice in the accounting
for non-reciprocal distributions of non-cash assets to
owners. The interpretation clarifies that (i) a dividend
payable should be recognised when the dividend is
appropriately authorised and is no longer at the discretion
of the entity; (ii) an entity should measure the dividend
payable at the fair value of the net assets to be distributed;
and (iii) an entity should recognise the difference between
the dividend paid and the carrying amount of the net
assets distributed in profit or loss. Other consequential
amendments were made to HKAS 10 Events after the
Reporting Period and HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations. While the adoption
of the interpretation may result in changes in certain
accounting policies, the interpretation is unlikely to have

any material financial impact on the Group.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010

2.3 Tl AE R A 3 2 A s WU B

wHE (%)

W (MY E R RBLTEE) -3 BE
1458 Z A& 5T AR 1 B R 78 i B 1K 4 5K
Z A T DU B BER 3R At sk < FH A sk 6 B
G Z I ASMR IR o WEAE w7 ML A S
AR RT AL AR 2 M SR AR IR - R
PR R 11 ok A 2 AR U ) i R PR A AR
(i) AR A AR 5 FEAE K > e G it AR 20 AR 25
JRA YA A S TS K R B 2 A R R AR
B TORBER Z A o iR A BB A L
BBUE Z i al #] > AT A & H AL H
JRAT: o] St 5 5 2 o

B (EBMERERRREY) - 2EE
17 B EES MBS EETHES
Z R E B o MR« G)REAT R
RER R B R EA B2 AEX
Jit R 32 5 (i) EMEDL B TG
AP EEHE A B R 5 RGii) A 2 HEAEH
25 2R P HERR O AT R B T4 T A R
T Z T Z 2580 o b A% 48 2 A& 3T 40 i 2%
WG EE 105 A H & FHE | &
HHM B GRS A FEZ R
B G EE R AR A T o R R
RES| L HF E Sl BOR Z 8 > (H MR
7 S A 45 A A o) B K A S o



2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKIFRIC)-Int 19 addresses the accounting by an entity
when the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and
result in the entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor
of the entity to extinguish all or part of the financial
liability. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
from 1 April 2011. The interpretation clarifies that equity
instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial
liability are consideration paid in accordance with HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
and the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished, and the consideration paid,
shall be recognised in profit or loss. The consideration
paid should be measured based on the fair value of the
equity instrument issued or, if the fair value of the equity
instrument cannot be reliably measured, the fair value of
the financial liability extinguished. As the Group has not
undertaken such transactions, the interpretation is unlikely

to have any material financial impact on the Group.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that all assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary shall be classified as held for
sale if an entity has a sale plan involving loss of control
of the subsidiary, regardless of whether the entity will
retain a non-controlling interest. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 April 2010. The changes
must be applied prospectively and will affect future
sale transactions or plans involving loss of control of a

subsidiary.

HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination of the
Length of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong Land
Leases is revised as a consequence of the amendment to
HKAS 17 Leases included in Improvements to HKFRSs
2009. Following this amendment, the scope of HK
Interpretation 4 has been expanded to cover all land leases,
including those classified as finance leases. As a result,
this interpretation is applicable to all leases of property
accounted for in accordance with HKAS 16, HKAS 17 and
HKAS 40.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2. 30 U 1B AR A B 2 v B s

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Except
for the amendment to HKAS 18, the Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 April 2010. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While
the adoption of some of the amendments may result in
changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments
are expected to have a significant financial impact on the

Group.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets
out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2011. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments may
result in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments are expected to have a significant financial

impact on the Group.

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are

stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which
the Group has a long term interest of generally not less
than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in

a position to exercise significant influence.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share
of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates
is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is
included as part of the Group’s interests in associates and

is not individually tested for impairment.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
associates represents the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date

of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is

on or after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as an asset,
initially measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. In the case of associates,
goodwill is included in the carrying amount thereof, rather
than as a separately identified asset in the consolidated

statement of financial position.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is

on or after 1 January 2005 (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are

assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent

period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or
loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in
this circumstance is measured based on the relative values
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-

generating unit retained.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in the income

statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, biological assets, financial
assets, an investment property and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 L EEHBOR B E (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting

policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an
interest in the Group that gives it significant influence
over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the

Group;
(b) the party is an associate;
(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d)

or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity

that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items
of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciation.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of
property, plant and equipment are dealt with as movements
in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve
is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset
basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the income
statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited
to the income statement to the extent of the deficit
previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised
in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost or valuation of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2% — 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% — 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% — 25%
Plant and machinery 10% — 20%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and

each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each

financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment or investment

property when completed and ready for use.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment property

An investment property is an interest in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such property is measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the investment property is stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting

period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the investment property are included in the income

statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
the investment property are recognised in the income

statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant

and equipment and depreciation” above.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets and rentals receivable under
operating leases are credited to the income statement on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
are charged to the income statement on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included
in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in
property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale
financial assets, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not
at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable
transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due from associates, trade and other
receivables, deposits and available-for-sale investments.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
the financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of sale in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the
Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of
financial position at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the income statement. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether
the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell
them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare
circumstances. The reclassification from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such
assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income in the income
statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised
in the income statement in other operating expenses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 L EEHBOR B E (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities and
club debenture. Equity investments classified as available
for sale are those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
valuation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement in other income, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement and
removed from the available-for-sale investment valuation
reserve. Interest and dividends earned are reported as
interest income and dividend income, respectively and
are recognised in the income statement as other income
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the near
term are still appropriate. When the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets in rare circumstances. Reclassification
to loans and receivables is permitted when the financial
assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and the
Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the
foreseeable future or to maturity. The reclassification to
the held-to-maturity category is permitted only when the
entity has the ability and intent to hold until the maturity
date of the financial asset.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-
for-sale category, any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using
the effective interest rate. Any difference between the
new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in

equity is reclassified to the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is

derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired;

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but

has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 L EEHBOR B E (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the

current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the amount
of the loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no

realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the

income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial

asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that an investment or a group of

investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the income statement, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income

statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. The determination of what is “significant”
or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
“prolonged” against the period in which the fair value
has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence
of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the income statement — is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the income statement. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available-for-sale are not reversed
through the income statement. Increases in their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in other

comprehensive income.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as loans and borrowings. The Group determines
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial

recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other

payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their

classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate method

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance

costs in the income statement.
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2.4SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 L EEHBOR B E (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and
(i1) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,

cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation

under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income

statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and

settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded
in active markets is determined by reference to quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price
for long positions and ask price for short positions),
without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial
instruments where there is no active market, the fair value
is determined using appropriate valuation techniques.
Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current market value of
another instrument which is substantially the same; a

discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group invests in certain derivative financial
instruments such as currency-linked deposits to enhance
its investment return. Such derivative financial instruments
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. They are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. Any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly

to the income statement.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury
shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity.
No gain or loss is recognised in the income statement on
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s
own equity instruments. Any difference between the
carrying amount and the consideration is recognised in
equity.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Livestock

Livestock are stated at fair value less estimated point-
of-sale costs, except where the fair value cannot be
measured reliably, in which case they are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
The fair value of livestock is determined based on market

prices of livestock of similar age, breed and genetic merit.

Net increments or decrements in the fair value of livestock
are included in the income statement, and are determined

as:

(a) the difference between the total fair value of
the livestock recognised at the beginning of the
financial year and the total fair value of the livestock

recognised at the end of the financial year; and

(b) the costs incurred, during the financial year the

livestock are acquired and bred.

Non-current livestock stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, represent breeder
peafowls and are amortised over ten years using the sum-

of-digits method.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis
and includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion,
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. In the case of
work in progress and self-produced finished goods, cost
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
the estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as
to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 L EEHBOR B E (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established;

(d) management fee income, in the period in which
services are rendered; and

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except
for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
8% to 20% of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the

rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model or the Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are

satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the

employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled
transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the statement of financial position, until
they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a

liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are

proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences
are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period and their
income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income

statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the

weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEaEHA A

102

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets

or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgement,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

financial statements:

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value has not been in existence; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by the management to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net

present value used in the impairment test.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed

below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment. For the purposes of impairment reviews,
the recoverable amount of goodwill is determined based
on value-in-use calculations or market valuations. The
value-in-use calculations and market valuations primarily
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management and estimated terminal value
at the end of the budget period, by reference to prior
years’ performance, current business plans and market
development expectations. There are also a number
of estimates involved in the preparation of cash flow
projections for the period covered by the approved
budgets. Key estimates include expected growth in
revenues and gross margin, timing of future capital
expenditure, and selection of discount rates to reflect
the risks and cost of capital involved. Changes to these
key judgement and estimates could materially affect the
determination of whether there is an impairment and the
related amounts. If there are significant adverse changes
in the aforementioned judgement and estimates, it may
be necessary to record significant additional impairment
charge in future periods. The carrying amount of
goodwill at 31 March 2010 was HK$35,551,000 (2009:
HK$34,607,000).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BEgEHA &N (F)

104

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax
assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2010
was HK$415,000 (2009: HK$415,000). The amount
of unrecognised tax losses for subsidiaries situated in
Hong Kong and Mainland China at 31 March 2010
were HK$85,060,000 (2009: HK$91,258,000) and
HK$124,725,000 (2009: HK$105,463,000), respectively.
Further details are contained in note 29 to the financial

statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-
sale and recognises movements of their fair values in
equity. When the fair value declines, management makes
assumptions about the decline in value to determine
whether there is an impairment that should be recognised
in the income statement. During the year, no impairment
losses had been recognised for available-for-sale
investments (2009: HK$36,342,000). At 31 March 2010,
the carrying amount of available-for-sale investments was
HK$65,039,000 (2009: HK$52,619,000).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables, deposits and other

receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable
in accordance with the relevant accounting standards.
Determining whether an asset is impaired requires an
estimation of the future cash flows and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, the
Group would be required to revise the basis of making
the allowance and its future results would be affected.
At 31 March 2010, an aggregate impairment of trade
receivables of HK$3,296,000 (2009: HK$2,763,000) has
been made and the carrying amounts of trade receivables
were HK$439,808,000 (2009: HK$429,687,000). At 31
March 2010, the carrying amounts of deposits and other
receivables were HK$44,044,000 (2009: HK$39,476,000)

and no impairment loss was made.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on geographical areas and has two

reportable operating segments as follows:

(i) the Hong Kong segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages,
frozen food products, ham and ham-related products,
noodles and the retailing of snack foods, confectionery

and beverages, and the operations of restaurants; and

(i) the Mainland China segment is engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of snack foods, confectionery,
beverages, frozen food products, poultry products,
and ham and ham-related products, noodles and the

operations of restaurants.

g
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3. Bk A kA ()

it Z AW E & (%)

A A AT LT
fife R 5 A 1 B DL B R & R A
2 % T 4 FRURH Bt B R RS T i el o
BEEERRWME > FEHARKRIA SRR
AE Ak 5T S5 P 2 B B R DL EH B -
i B B AR 2 B 4 U A A0 R T > AS AR Lt
R R e e s i R RN Z
B N R -FE=H=+—H > I
W 5 Rk 2 WAE A 3£3,296,000% 7T (Z
FEILLE 22,763,000 50) - i IR E 5
K H 2 M T A %5439,808,000 0T (& &
JUAE 429,687,000 78 ) © ¥ —F — T4
ESH=Z1T—H &K HERKEZ
W THI B £544,044,000% T (ZFF LA ¢
39,476,000% 70 ) > 3 A Ik 16 0 1E -

28 o B R

RS B 5 > A48 IR B8R [ 3 i) 1) 2 2
BEAL o A DL W IE 28 T i 2 R i

() A uaEe o 18 R K a AR B
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEFIER ()

106

INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before
tax except that interest income, dividend income and
unallocated gains/(losses), net, impairment of available-
for-sale investments, gain on disposal of interests in an
associate, excess over the cost of business combinations,
finance costs, share of profits and losses of associates and
corporate and other unallocated expenses are excluded

from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments,
deferred tax assets, tax recoverable and cash and cash

equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank
borrowings, tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as these

liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third

parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BB HER (5)
INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical segments it 3% 4y ¥
Group Hong Kong Mainland China Total
£H B R K B At
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

CE-EE CRRME CR-RF CRTAE F-%F CREAE
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BRI BETE  ERTE ENTT ERTD ERFE

Segment revenue: AHBA :
Sales to external customers HETHRER 1,553,981 1,497,048 793,601 793,578 2,347,582 2,290,626
Intersegment sales o g 2471 1,969 143,439 109,327 145,910 111,296
1,556,452 1,499,017 937,040 902,905 2,493,492 2,401,922

Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment sales X 6 & & 4K 8 (145,910) (111,296)
Revenue KA 2,347,582 2,290,626
Segment results R Y 98,263 114,964 (7,186) (59,309) 91,077 55,655
Reconciliation: g -
Interest income FEBRA 597 5,165
Dividend income and unallocated 5 B WA R & 2 e

gains/(losses), net Wt/ (B#H) > FH5 29,642 (32,645)
Impairment of available-for-sale W ff th B &

investments Z Wl - (36,342)
Gain on disposal of interests B — T 2 4 )

in an associate [ Epd g - 87,144
Excess over the cost of business BB A O A

combinations ZHH 387 50,638
Finance costs il A (12,676) (20,504)
Share of profits and losses of T 8 A ] e A

associates REH 7,369 11,519
Corporate and other unallocated N R A AR AR

expenses i3 (16,361) (13,857)
Profit before tax L e 100,035 106,773

MmN E B AERARA =% — 28 58% 10/
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4.
INFORMATION (continued)

BB TR (8)

Geographical segments (continued) it 8 43 38 (4E)
Group Hong Kong Mainland China Total
W B K B oy
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
CE-RE S ZRBWE CF-%F ZFFWNE CF-FE ZRZRAE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000
EWTL  BETL EWFTC #FFr EWTL BFFr
Segment assets e 992,590 938,023 653,330 645,975 1,645,920 1,583,998
Interests in associates T 2 ) 2 4 90,093 86,648 56,305 52,656 146,398 139,304
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment P 6 HE WO
receivables i (211,275) (175,124)
Corporate and other unallocated N R A A AR
assets B 582,755 537,908
Total assets BEMME 2,163,798 2,086,086
Segment liabilities AHA K 217,868 196,575 290,531 255,753 508,399 452,328
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment 1A M A R
payables i (211,275) (175,124)
Corporate and other unallocated ] R IR A
liabilities ffR 845,003 815,043
Total liabilities FEAME 1,142,127 1,092,247
Other segment information: KRR HEH :
Share of profits and losses T A1 2 24 i i
of associates LE#H (4,778) (14,573) (2,591) 3,054 (7,369) (11,519)
Impairment of trade receivables T B 55 M £ 1,181 224 264 1,301 1,445 1,525
Impairment/(reversal of ik Yy
impairment) Wt/
of slow-moving inventories (Yo A 48 ) (1,341) 57 293 6,499 (1,048) 6,556
Depreciation and amortisation EYE 3 15,256 15,129 0425 26,154 47,681 41,283
Interests in associates TN ) 2 B 2 90,093 86,648 56,305 52,656 146,398 139,304
Capital expenditure* AR 16,150 41,145 23,398 97,080 39,548 138,25
Non-current assets i H B 204,883 203,103 483,471 494,804 688,354 697,907
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BB S RS 2 o MR G - A

equipment, prepaid land lease payments and investment property

including assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries.
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5WAK§&WA&%ﬁ/%?

) - G

WA B AL ) 2 28 3640 > BB R

BREHE N EEMME - A > Hibilk
AR BIR) » FEZAMWT

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the invoiced value of goods sold, net of discounts and
returns. An analysis of revenue, other income and gains/
(losses), net is as follows:

Group
M
2010 2009
SEeRE DBBAS
HK$’000 HK$’000
T HNET T

Revenue WA 2,347,582 2,290,626
Other income oAb B A
Bank interest income SRAT A B A 597 5,165
Dividend income from listed A BTG

available-for-sale investments Z BB A 742 899
Management fee income BB WA 604 554
Rental income A BA 1,792 983
Others Fo At 3,898 7,852

7,633 15,453

Gains/(losses), net Wik O) - T#
Investment gains/(losses), net* waEWZE (UEH) » - 1,263 (34,585)
Fair value gains on available- A ERE 2 A TE

for-sale investments Weas (H B IR ) RE 5 )

(transfer from equity on disposal) 27,637 1,041

28,900 (33,544)
36,533 (18,091)

* Investment gains/(losses), net comprise net gain from currency- * ‘EWKH S (BHE)  FHOEEWEHAE

linked deposits of HK$95,000 (2009: net loss of HK$16,895,000)
and net exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents of
HK$1,168,000 (2009: net loss of HK$17,690,000).

W 2595,000% G (ZFRILE - T B R
16,895,000% 70) KB & R B & SHIEH Z &
JEE 58 U 25 1,168,0008 7 (ZFFILE : BIEIHE

17,690,000%# ) °

Mmoo & B &R D A o =
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6. FINANCE COSTS 3 %S
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: Bl A Z MR

Group
£y
2010 2009
e S 20 “ERIE
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T

Interest on bank and trust receipt ARTFERNEEERZ
loans wholly repayable within SRAT SR B AR RE MR
five years B A B




7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
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7. BB e A
ARSI 2 BB R E R GEA) ¢

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold
Depreciation
Amortisation of non-current livestock
Minimum lease payments under
operating leases in respect of land
and buildings
Auditors’ remuneration
Employee benefit expense
(excluding directors’ remuneration
(note 8)) :
Wages, salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions
Less: Forfeited contributions

Net pension scheme contributions**

Loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Foreign exchange differences, net
Rental income on an investment
property less direct operating
expenses of HK$350,000
(2009: HK$373,000)
Impairment of available-for-sale
investments
Gain on disposal of interests in
an associate
Decrease/(increase) in fair value
less estimated point-of-sale costs
attributable to:
physical change on non-current
livestock
price change on non-current
livestock
Excess over the cost of business
combinations
Impairment of trade receivables*®
Impairment/(reversal of impairment)
of slow-moving inventories***

O R R Z A

it

T 0 £ 7 o

o Rt AR R
Z KA &

% U T
@ 4 A A 52
(FEFEFME
(Wtits)) :
TH -~ Fid -
BB A
B f 4t )tk
s Wolal Bk

M 7 B

HEWE - KEX

W EH Z
BE 525 B > SR
BREWEZHMESRAREE
¥ B 3350,000% 7T
(ZEFE:
373,000 7T
w4t B 2 A

8 — ] O A ) AR
Z Wtk
AR/ (3m)
T A
1 B g 7%
FEHBEEZYUHA
5 W)
T BB ik
W
R A A
Z KW
Wt S o s f
MR BB
(ol L 7 ] ) s

Notes

Hi it

g

14
18

18

18

33
24

N & B B R

Group

2010
=
HK$°000
W T
1,703,494

43,601
361

108,476
2,566

200,405
10,807
(305)
10,502
210,907

2,236
2,809

(1,442)

&)
(43)

(387)
1,445

(1,048)

A |

2009
R
HK$°000
T
1,685,688

37,671
944

99,301
2,510

190,735
9,611

9,611

200,346

1,793
5,240

(610)
36,342

(87,144)

(10)
42

(50,638)
1,525

6,556

—z2 -z % 111



112

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 15 35 Y A

31 March 2010 ZZ—-Z&=H8=+—H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

* The impairment of trade receivables is included in “Other operating

expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

*#* At 31 March 2010, the Group had forfeited contributions of
HK$305,000 (2009: Nil) available to reduce its contributions to the

pension scheme in future years.

*#*%% The impairment/(reversal of impairment) of slow-moving
inventories is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated income
statement.

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”) and the disclosure requirements of

Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as

follows:
Fees 4
Other emoluments: At T 4 -
Salaries, allowances and benefits s B REY
in kind ) 2
Pension scheme contributions PR N o Pl 5
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w AR —FEZHZE4—H o AREEZ R
305,000 70 (ZFT LA« M) W AR IR R
AT BE AR PR 4 5 A K o
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8. WL

BN E ISR S 2 5 A R AT
(B 22 B 1) w2 i LA (1B BRI 1) K&
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Group
e 30|

2010 2009
—E R —EFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
640 640
6,274 5,785
44 133
6,318 5,918
6,958 6,558



8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

during the year were as follows:

Leung Mei Han e ]
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter PR £ A4
Hiroshi Zaizen WA &

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2009: Nil).

Executive directors

2010 e i
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen R
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WSR2
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCIKFE
Yip Wai Keung BE {8 R
Wu Wing Biu B IR R

Notes to Financial Statements
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8. M4 ()

(a) BRI ER

FRNCHRTHEILERTEF RSN
T

2010 2009
- ZREFE
HK$’000 HK$000
#W T HNET T
80 80

80 80

80 80

240 240

A P9 0 Bt T < B A T B L R AT R

(ZRRIJUE - 8 -
(b) PATHES
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

W
HK$000
BT

g

80
80
80
80
80

400

Widr o W B kAE

Ly LR Z Bk 30t T 4 7
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BT BT

3,600 4 3,684
1,125 12 1,217
- 4 84
741 12 833
808 12 900
6,274 44 6,718
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b) Executive directors (continued)

2009 ZRFIE
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen W
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WA
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCKHE
Yip Wai Keung B3R
Wu Wing Biu ik g

Included in the executive directors’ remuneration
is an estimated rental of HK$3,600,000 (2009:
HK$3,480,000) for a director’s quarter owned by the
Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2009: Nil).

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2009: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8§ above. Details of the remuneration of
the remaining three (2009: three) non-director, highest paid
employees for the year are as follows:

8.

o 20 4 (%)

(b) AT H P (H)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

e E o BkEEE

g REYA S B HMAE
HKS$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T #BWTL BT EETT

80 3,480 4 3,564
80 1,090 59 1,229
80 - 4 84
80 679 36 795
80 536 30 646
400 5,785 133 6,318

Salaries, allowances and benefits e B REDA

in kind
Pension scheme contributions IR AR At ) 22 itk
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. o 36 M dee o D B (%69)
(continued)
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose e S R I v R B & AE T AL R 2
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: #H :

Number of employees

e B ¥
2010 2009
ol SRR
Nil to HK$1,000,000 F W IT £1,000,000% 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001%% 7€ £1,500,000% 7t 1
3 3
10.INCOME TAX 10. Fr 15 BE
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of B W RGBT F24AE 7 7 o Pl 2k 2 A st
16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits JE R B H A 3216.5% (~FEZIE : 16.5%)
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits ZRCRAE B o Il b [ 2 E SRR VR A
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of T IEREFERESEBEZBR mEgE
tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the W2z BT RSE -
Group operates.
Group
ey |
2010 2009
R R SRR
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT W F o
Current — Hong Kong B - &
Charge for the year AR AR BEBLIE 15,609 17,446
Overprovision in prior years 2 A E A A (16) (2,438)
Current — Elsewhere 3 — Al b
Charge for the year AR A JE B I 1,235 1,622
Deferred (note 29) WL (i tE29) (112) (394)
Total tax charge for the year AAE JE Z B IE X 16,716 16,236
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10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. 7 1388 (&)

PR A 2 T R e A B2 4 R A
K/ v P I 2 0 E B R G S EL O
Wi A58 i ¥ M) 2 A0 52 H % DAVEE B B R AR
Z BUIE S EPR > DA g P Bl R (B 352

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable BR) HERBRZEHENT
rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate, are
as follows:
Group
e L]
2010 2009
e SR
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
W T o T
Profit before tax A TR 100,035 106,773
Tax at applicable tax rates /&S T
Z FiIH 16,977 17.0 19,378 18.1
Effect on opening deferred tax BT i 4R H)
of decrease in rates A JE A I 2 7 B - - (913) 0.9)
Adjustments in respect of current H ] Z Bl 17 Fi JH
tax of previous periods Z i (16) - (2,438) (2.3)
Profits and losses attributable JRE A i 2 2 ) i )
to associates I g 18 (1,952) (2.0) (2,194) (2.0)
Income not subject to tax P78 RBL Z WA (1,232) (1.2) (25,335) (23.7)
Expenses not deductible for tax 7~ ®] Fi 4 i JE 1 9
2z 678 0.7 8,354 7.8
Effect of withholding tax at 5%  TH 11 Bi5% ¥ A< 4 H
on the distributable profits 7 e e K e 2
of the Group’ s 2 W) 2 W) B 43 Ik
Mainland China subsidiaries i Al Z 5 B 511 0.5 368 0.3
Tax losses utilised from ) 2 A 9 T 2 B I
previous periods i 18 (6,227) (6.2) (1,000) (0.9)
Deferred tax assets not AR W Z AR A B JH
recognised G 7,898 7.9 19,821 18.6
Others Ho At 79 - 195 0.2
Tax charge at the Group’s P A AR T BB
effective rate 2 B 16,716 16.7 16,236 15.2

JRE A Wi 2 8 W] 2 B JE 3£1,935,000% 7T (—
FEIAE 13,176,000 50) B EIER 4G 1K
e b2 [HEAG TG 2 A w1 o

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting
to HK$1,935,000 (2009: HK$3,176,000) is included
in “Share of profits and losses of associates” in the
consolidated income statement.

AR B o O e 2 T R DB 4 ) T A
HH IR B A 4% 7 R B o

Certain subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China
are entitled to preferential tax rates granted by relevant
authorities to these subsidiaries.
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11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2010 includes
a profit of HK$31,309,000 (2009: HK$33,680,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (note 32(b)).

12.DIVIDENDS

Interim — HK2.0 cents
(2009: HK2.0 cents) per
ordinary share

Proposed final — HK5.0 cents
(2009: HK5.0 cents) per

ordinary share

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

13.EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March
2010 and 2009 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during those

years.

Notes to Financial Statements
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117 2 vi) 1t P00 A 5 M AV ¥k M)

BEEZ-FE=A=Z1+—HILEEZ
A ) RE g P A AL AR S R LA
31,309,000% 7 (= F FJL4E : 33,680,000
wot) 2l > OEFAAA H) Z B s
(B 5E32(b)) °

v B — 9 0% 8 2. 0% Al
(ZFFJu4E - 2.0310)

R K — 5 I 5 S .0 Al
ZERZIE  5.0%A1)

12. )% B
2010 2009
R “BBIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T W T T
7,847 7,991
19,537 19,978
27,384 27,969

AR JBE 2 S R e B A AR ) 2
JBe SROB AR R B B SR AR O AT AR

13 7% 2 i) 5 7 B 4k i A3 % WA
JBe % A

IR AT TR A AR A 06
R0 41 2 AV R A Y EL BT I e
I 4 T 5 <

HRAREEREE R -RER ERIL
HFZA=T—HIRE R R EE 2
TR AT A M o PR I S S0 A = D %
AR Tt BB 2 R B RE A 2 R A e o
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are

based on:

Earnings A

Profit attributable to ordinary B B B A I i
equity holders of the Company, B Z A A ]
used in the basic and diluted HmRER A A
earnings per share calculation JRE AW i )

Shares JBt By

Weighted average number of HE: & &
ordinary shares in issue BF 2 ARG B C B AT
during the year in the basic and W 7 JBE i RE T 25 8

diluted earnings per share
calculation
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2010 2009
SEewyE SRR
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BT T I
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT

Group

31 March 2010

At April 2009:
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2009, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Acquisition of a subsidiary
(note 33)

Disposals

Depreciation provided
during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2010, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 March 2010:
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

Analysis of cost or valuation:
At cost
At 31 March 1994 valuation

i o L EVIES ol

RERFAEMA R
WAH
Rittih

e (e

REZENENA-H
RETIEET

HE

Yol B Al (Mt s3)

th
ERORHEZITE

(-

REF-FEZA=40
LR EGHIE

REF-RE==A4-H:
WA
Rt

i

RS A

Bk
R-AABEZAZA—H
2 fhfe

Leasehold
land and
buildings
LR

3 53
HKS$’000

#H T

376,084
(80,044)

296,040

296,40
1475

(11,807)
461

292,169

384,173

(92,004)

292,169

299,173

85,000

384,173

Leasehold
improvements
L 3
kb
HK$'000

#H T

0514
(26,610)

43904

43904
4405

(1,670)
97

40,081

71,862
(31,781)

40,081

71,862

71,862

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 1% 35 B A

14. 3% ~ W5 Bk i

|

Furniture,
fixtures and Plant and
equipment  machinery
B~ R
KE Rt R#&
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
#W¥rr  #WTr
88,792 196,251
(52872) (110,273)
35,920 85,976
35,920 85,976
0,486 13,108
767 -
(793) (714)
(8,974) (11,368)
7 172
33481 87,174
94,488 208,389
(61,007) (121,715)
33481 87,174
94,488 208,389
94,488 208,889

Mmoo & B F R

Motor
vehicles

it
HKS$ 000
#W T

37,649
(26,766)

10,883

10,883
441

(133)

(378)
19

11,458

3979
1.821)

11,458

39,279

3979

a e

Construction
in progress

ERTH
HKS$ 000
#W T

14,898

14,998

14,898
1950

46

16,894

16,894

16,894

16,894

16,894

2 - =2 % 119

31 March 2010 —ZZE—ZF&=A=+—H

Total
HK$ 000
Vil Ao

784,188
(296,567)

81621

187,621
31915

77
(2317)

(43,601)
§M

481,257

815,585

(334,328)

481,257

730,585

85,000

815,585
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Notes to Fina
Bt #& R & B

31 March 2010 =& —

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

gE=A=+-

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group

31 March 2009

At 1 April 2008:
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2008, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 33)

Disposals

Depreciation provided
during the year

Transfers

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2009, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 March 2009:
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

Analysis of cost or valuation:
At cost
At 31 March 1994 valuation

“RRMEENZA-H

RERFNENA-H:
WAH
Rt

i

REZFZNEMA R »
CHREHTE

e

WO ) (it 33)

t
ERCRELE

By
B A

REZFAEZAZH
il SEd

RERFAE=A=A-H
WA
Rt

LT

WAL A :
Bk

R-AABEZA=4—H

Z fhfe

cial Statements

14. 9136 ~ Wi b5 B fli (4

EL |
Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold fixtures and Plant and Motor  Construction
buildings ~ improvements equipment machinery vehicles  in progress Total
HELE  HEET [k~ BR R
3 53 k6 RERR R e ARIE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000
#HTE  EWTT o ENTL #WTr #NTL #WTr #NTx
303,533 59312 70871 133,617 36,201 29551 035,085
(52,022) (21,622) (47,701) (76,513) (24,135) - (221,993)
253511 37,690 23,170 57,104 12,066 29551 413,09
253,511 37,690 23,170 57,104 12,066 29551 413,092
9,557 6,677 19,943 1938 1,750 4,187 44,052
4,17 - 03 22,398 480 - 04,068
- 91) (665) - (199) - (1,831)
(11,164) (8,651) (6,934) (7,565) (3357) - (37,671)
- 8,564 - 10,921 - (19.485) -
2,409 595 343 1,180 139 045 5311
296,040 43,904 35,920 §5.976 10,883 14,898 487,621
376,084 70,514 88,792 196,251 37,649 14,898 784,188
(80,044) (26,610) (52872 (110,275) (26,766) - (296,567)
296,040 43,904 35,920 85,976 10,883 14,898 487,621
291,084 70,514 88,792 196,251 37,649 14,898 099,188
§5,000 - - - - - §5,000
376,084 70,514 88,792 196,251 37,649 14,898 784,188
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14.PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings included above

are held under medium term leases and are situated in:

LR
Sl PN

Hong Kong
Mainland China

Certain of the Group’s buildings, which are situated in
Hong Kong, were revalued at 15 July 1993, by C.Y. Leung
& Company Limited, independent professionally qualified
valuers. The leasehold land and buildings were revalued
at open market value, based on their existing use. Since
the year ended 31 March 1994, no further revaluations
of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings have been
carried out, as the Group has relied upon the exemption
granted under the transitional provisions in paragraph
80A of HKAS 16 from the requirement to carry out future
revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which

were stated at valuation at that time.

Had this leasehold land and building been carried at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation, their carrying
amount would have been approximately HK$33,519,000
(2009: HK$34,497,000).

At 31 March 2010, certain buildings of a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary with a net book value of approximately
HK$9,014,000 (2009: HK$5,009,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to that non-

wholly-owned subsidiary (note 28).

Notes to Financial Statements

BY %5 8 & MY &

31 March 2010 = E—E&=A=+—8H

14.913€ ~ Wb B fli (A1)

b A AR T 2 A R M T T ALY

Fe A AL DL R HU g

At cost At valuation Total

$i A el st
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT oc BT o T
76,952 85,000 161,952
222,221 - 222,221
299,173 85,000 384,173

A AL W M s TR
—NWNhE2ELATHA B rHERE
WAk L 342 i % 0 2 G AT A PR AR A
B o A o XA TI BT R & Z A B
WG EREEHMAE - BRE—LLNGE=
H=E=+—HIEFEER » it A MR B
W RSB 1698 80A B 2 3 I Mk A HF
WA HREWE - MG KT e
s WS S0 S A A [ 2 R A b R e o
T — B EA -

i BT A AL B Ml R bl 5 DLRE BB AR UK
BEt s - A BRME L Ry
R i {1 4 %6 40 4533,519,0008 7T (—FF L
4 1 34,497,000¥50) o

W oB—FEZH=Z+—H » —HELE
WAMEARE THEFYEFRIMELY
9,014,000¥ JC (ZFF LA : 5,009,000%
J0) Bk > IR ZIE 2 E WA WS
) 2 — SR AT I A (BRFRE28)

MmN EEBE R AR e =B — B
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Bt %5 8 & MY R

31 March 2010 ZE—Z&=8A=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. 8 & W2k
Group
e YL |
2010 2009
R R ZERRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o B F o
Carrying amount at beginning AEH) Z W T E
of year 15,310 14,984
Exchange realignment FEE B, i % 46 326
Carrying amount at end of year AR Z IR THE 15,356 15,310
The Group’s investment property is situated in Mainland AR E 2 B EALR b B KB s 3R
China and is held under a medium term lease. WA FFA -
The Group’s investment property was revalued on 31 AEEZREWE R _F-FHE=NA
March 2010 by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, = — H W8 on B S A 1 6 AR
independent professionally qualified valuers, at BATH R AR ENAEE - Bt EWETIHB
RMB13,500,000 (equivalent to HK$15,356,000) on an THEZAMEWT G EEE R ENRE
open market, existing use basis. The investment property 13,500,0007C (Z:{8 15,356,000 70 ) - &
is leased to an associate of the Group under an operating MEDRBHAEAME T 2 AE > 5F
lease, further summary details of which are included in 55 B SR B 25 i 4 B 35 (a) 2 37(a)(iv) ©
notes 35(a) and 37(a)(iv) to the financial statements.
Further particulars of the Group’s investment property are AL E B AL GRS R B 188 H -

included on page 188.
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o =

31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZF&=H=+—H

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. T AT 1 3t AL 45 5k 06

Group
45 19
2010 2009
R FF “FFIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT
Carrying amount at beginning AAE W) 2 MR T

of year 158,620 130,427
Addition NE 866 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary W i — [T Y o 2 ) (M E33)

(Note 33) - 29,505
Recognised during the year A P THE R (4,080) (3,612)
Exchange realignment P 5, i) 337 2,300
Carrying amount at end of year AR Z MR B 155,743 158,620
Current portion included in BRAEEMNRE - Ze R

prepayments, deposits and other At JE WK T i ) B 43

receivables (4,085) (3,896)
Non-current portion JE B ER 4 151,658 154,724
The Group’s prepaid land lease payments included above AR B b 2 AT A K I SRR
relate to leasehold land which are held under medium term T AT B - P IR A R o WAL
leases and are situated in:

2010

L

HK$’000

W T

Hong Kong gL 44,474
Mainland China T PN 111,269
155,743

Mo &= B AERARP =T — 2 F 5% 123
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Notes to Financial Statements

Br 15 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=A=+—8

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group acquired
BE M T PR WA A R AF](“GZ Panxi”) which operates
restaurants on a piece of land (the “Land”) in Liwan
District, Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). At 31 March 2010, the carrying value of the
Land was HK$46,295,000 (2009: HK$47,418,000). In
the opinion of the directors, based on the advice from the
Group’s external legal advisors, GZ Panxi has the right to
use the Land and occupy the buildings for its restaurant
operation, and upon the payment of the land premium
for the Land, the Group can obtain the land use right

certificate for the Land.

At 31 March 2010, certain leasehold land of a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary with a net book value of approximately
HK$2,706,000 (2009: HK$1,840,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to that non-

wholly-owned subsidiary (note 28).

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010

16. AT L AL &3 JH ()

BE_ZFZLE=A=Z+—HILEEN
A SR WO T RO T PR W KA R A ]
(TEEMIPEIE L) o BEM PEEAE 3 A R 3L Fn
B (T ]) B M 2% ¥ I — i b (3% &
W) REWK > R_B-FE=H=4—
H > #% 2 MR TH A %5 46,295,000 78 (=
BEIUAE ¢ 47,418,000 7C) o MR AL H
iz MR A > RN BN
2 MEE % Y AG A
WRZH > VAR AT % 2+ Hh s
% > ASE H ARG - > - RS o

W oBR—FEZHA=Z+—H > —HELE
WAEMBA®E THE LR FMHL
2,706,000% 76 (ZF T JLA : 1,840,000%
JC) P HEH - DI IR 2 B B P R
A HE 2 — SR AT E B (M AE28) o



17. GOODWILL

At 1 April 2008:
Cost

Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 April 2008, net of accumulated
impairment

Acquisition of additional interests in a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2009

At 31 March 2009:
Cost

Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 April 2009, net of accumulated
impairment

Acquisition of additional interests in a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2010

At 31 March 2010:
Cost

Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Notes to Financial Statements

BY %5 8 & MY &

17. 746 %

BoFF)NEMHA—H
JRA
Kt fE

I TTREN

PERENEMH —HZ A
[WE e

il A\ Ik 2 B M a2\l 2
WIS HE 2R

[ 56, 3 4

RERFRE=ZH=+—H

2 IR SV ESESE
A
Rt W

A T 3

REZFRBEMA —HZ A
O B 2t e

il A\ JE 2 A M A ] 2
IO HE 2R

e 5, i 4%

BoF-FEZH=1—H
BEFFEZH =T —H
A

R A

T 3

I & B B R

A

Gl

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=H=+—§H

Group

£ |
HK$°000
HHT T

28,159

(1,350)

26,809

26,809

3,836
3,962

34,607

35,957

(1,350)

34,607

34,607

847
97

35,551

36,901
(1,350)

35,551

2 — =2 5 5 85 125



Notes to Financial Statements

Br 15 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=A=+—8

17. GOODWILL (continued) 17. %62 ()

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-

generating units is as follows:

T A B0

g3 e 2 B 4 e A LA 2 v R 2 R v A S
mE

Trading GZ Panxi Poultry
business operation business Others Total
UES B 8 % B B 1) st
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

“R-RE ZRRAE CE-RE OZRRAE CF-RF ZRRAE CF-RF ZERAE R ZRRAE
KGO0 HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS0O0  HKS'000
T #ETL #WTL BT ENTL #NTT EWTL BETT EWTL EETE

Carrying amount of goodwill B2 T f 16205 16157 1164 11608 3847 383 3855 3006 3L 60T

126

Trading business cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the trading business cash-
generating unit is determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 4% (2009: 4%).

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the trading business cash-generating unit for 31 March
2010 and 31 March 2009. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Trading business cash-generating unit (continued)

Purchase price inflation — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to inventory price inflation is the
forecast price indices during the budget year from where
inventories are sourced. The values assigned to key
assumptions are consistent with external information

sources.

GZ Panxi operation cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the GZ Panxi operation cash-
generating unit is based on fair value less costs to sell.
Certain assets of the GZ Panxi operation cash-generating
unit was valued on 31 March 2010 by DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung Limited, independent professionally qualified

valuers, on an open market, existing use basis.

Poultry business cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the poultry business cash-
generating unit is based on fair value less costs to sell.
Certain assets of the poultry business cash-generating
unit was valued on 31 March 2010 by DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung Limited, independent professionally qualified

valuers, on an open market, existing use basis.

Notes to Financial Statements
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17. 75 % (51
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R WA ()
By 55 3 B B < AE BT (B
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BB eEERMZATEECH ZF—
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T 35 B HEHEAT A AH o

KRB B 2 AL
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Notes to Financial Statements

Br 15 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 —ZE2—Z&=HA=+—H

18. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK

Livestock: BE:
At fair value 2 FAE
At cost less accumulated BRAS Y B4 8
amortisation and impairment VAE S 15
losses
Physical quantity of peafowls: fLAEMH :
Number of day-old peafowls BRAEHH
Number of breeder peafowls AEfLEHHE

The Group’s non-current livestock comprises breeder and
day-old peafowls owned by a subsidiary. The day-old
peafowls are raised for sale. The breeder peafowls are held
to produce further day-old peafowls. Breeder peafowls
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses as no active or ready markets exist for
these breeder peafowls and their fair values cannot be
measured reliably. Day-old peafowls are valued at fair

value less estimated point-of-sale costs.
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18. W B & &

Group
L]

2010 2009
—F—-FF —FFIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
521 652
185 477
706 1,129
4,241 5,328
6,988 6,988
11,229 12,316

AGEEZ I W EE GHEF IR
7> W H A R A o BURFLEAE
F3& > 7 M AL R PP A A R R L 4D
85 o DR L 2 Sl 2 R O i O T R
RE T 5E 7 A2 L AP > M L A T R R
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Notes to Financial Statements

BY %5 8 & MY &

31 March 2010 Z&E—Z&=A=+—H

18. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK 18. ¥ W& & (4)
(continued)
Group
e L |
HK$’000
BT T
The movements in non-current FEMBEEAFEZEHNT -
livestock at fair value are as follows:
Balance at 1 April 2008, at fair value PR ENH —HZ 4% %A FE 504
Increase/(decrease) in fair value less ASFAERE I, (A ) WTEEE B R R AR
estimated point-of-sale costs S g R
attributable to:
— physical change — W HZE 10
— price change — A% 5 ) (42)
Increase due to raising PR i) % 1t 84 553
Decrease due to harvest PRI WAL B8 i ik A (383)
Exchange realignment P 5, 3 8% 10
Balance at 31 March 2009 and RZERZNE=ZA=Z1+T—HEZFRFNFE
1 April 2009, at fair value WH—HZ&H » A VHE 652
Increase in fair value less estimated 2 P F B4 R R B R AR
point-of-sale costs attributable to: e S
— physical change - HZH 9
— price change — A% 5 B 43
Increase due to raising PRI ] % iy 34 625
Decrease due to harvest PRI W i sk A (810)
Exchange realignment e 5, it % 2
Balance at 31 March 2010, at fair value R_E2—FEZA=Z+F—HZEM A FHE 521

MmN E B AERA@P - =% — & 8 K% 129
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Notes to Financial Statements

Br %5 8 & MY R

31 March 2010 —Z2—Z&=A=+—H

(continued)

Particulars of the gross carrying amount and the TN
accumulated amortisation of breeder peafowls, which iﬁt_ﬂ;

18. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK 18. %}

are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any

impairment losses, are as follows:

31 March 2010

At 1 April 2009:
Cost

“E-RE=ZA=1—H
PEEFRJFEMHA—H
A

Accumulated amortisation and BAT B 8 SO A
impairment losses
Net carrying amount MR TG A
At 1 April 2009, net of accumulated BoRFIENA —H>
amortisation and impairment losses O 1 B B 5 4 8 % ol
Increase due to raising ] 4% i 4 7{[1
Amortisation provided during the year AR T e
At 31 March 2010, net of accumulated ﬁ}:g~£¢5ﬁ 5‘[“_‘ H o
amortisation and impairment losses T F B 2 5t 8 B i
At 31 March 2010: BNoF-FEZA=1+—H
Cost B ﬂi
Accumulated amortisation and BAH S S U A
impairment losses
Net carrying amount H% i

31 March 2009

At 1 April 2008:

“EFNEZH=Z4—H
BoFF)NEMA—H
TS

Cost Jﬂ?‘)‘ .
Accumulated amortisation and BAT R 8 A
impairment losses
Net carrying amount M T A
At 1 April 2008, net of accumulated f&\:gg/\ﬁamﬁ —H >
amortisation and impairment losses [ 1] ﬁﬂﬁfﬁ&ﬁiﬁ
Amortisation provided during the year AN OB A
Exchange realignment iEE b, i)

At 31 March 2009, net of accumulated fi’:‘:ggﬂﬂazﬁ +—H >
amortisation and impairment losses O 41 B B 5 4 8 % ok A
At 31 March 2009: HEEFUFE=ZHA=1+—H

Cost A .

Accumulated amortisation and AT 8 KA
impairment losses

Net carrying amount M T A
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Group

e

HK$°000
BT T

5,843
(5,366)

477

477

(361)

185

5,556
(5,371)
185

5,718
(4,326)

1,392

1,392
(944)
29

477

5,843
(5,366)
477
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31 March 2010 —ZE—ZE&=HA=+—8H

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19.74 WY )8 2 vl 2 #¢ &

Company
VA |
2010 2009
R ZERRNAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vo
Unlisted shares, at cost I b By FRBRAME 93,098 93,098

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries included in

the Company’s current assets and current liabilities

respectively are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

oy B A F B B A KRB RN Z
W, WEASF FEF I 2 W1 sk JE I S HE AT - 40
HAHIBAVR K -

AAT 2 LEMEAF TR -

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable
registration registered and fully to the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
A% 0y A % ) M A B 2
iR} R 31943 ) Akl
EEA Xl R A B 9 R B A i Hi% I ER =31
Abundant Capital Inc. British Virgin US$100 - 100.0 Investment holding
Islands 1003 75 RE ¥R
S I L
Cowboy Food Company Hong Kong HK$6,000,000 - 85.0 Manufacturing of
Limited Hib 6,000,000% JC peanut products
AR A R AT 6 A i 0
Crowne Profits Limited British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
Islands 1376 BE PR
i B LT
E-Options Technology British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Property holding
Limited Islands B B 23
S I L
Eat & International (H.K.) Hong Kong HK$700,000 - 91.0 Restaurant
Co., Limited* B 700,000% JC (2009: Nil) operations
(“Eat & International”) (ZRFIAE ) BRERE
PNER L E YR
(T REREM])

I & B B R A

e
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(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries

(continued)

Name

Lk

Fancy Talent Limited*

FRWEA WA A

Four Seas Enterprises
(BVI) Limited

Four Seas China
Holdings Limited
7Y P H AR A

Four Seas Mercantile Limited

P B 5 A R AR

Four Seas Property
Holdings Limited
U EVE 2RO

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

ik R
XE i e B 0

Hong Kong
&

British Virgin
Islands

Py el

British Virgin
Islands

S JE L RE R

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
LR

Notes to Financial Statements

Br 15 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=A=+—8

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

are as follows:

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered and fully
paid-up capital
A% 0y

31943 )

B 8 R TR A v

HK$100,000,000
100,000,000 &

US$20,000
20,0003 75

US$1,000,000
1,000,0003€ 0

(i) Ordinary HK$200
(i) Non-voting deferred
HK$20,000,000

()% 4@ JB 2009 G
(i 4 5 e
20,000,000% 7¢

HK$50,000,000
50,000,000% G
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1977 B )& 2\l 2 B8 ()

AAT 2 LEMEAFGFEDT = (8)

Percentage of equity
attributable

to the Company

Direct Indirect Principal activities
7 2 i) AV A 2t
"W

Hk I & ER-E 3

- 100.0 Marketing of

snack foods

INEZ T

i)

100.0 - Investment holding

B

- 100.0 Investment holding

B

- 100.0 Trading in snack

foods, confectionery

and beverages

N BER R

b 2 B 5

- 100.0 Investment holding

R
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 1974 BB A v 2 Be & (4)

(continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAFZ EEMBAFGEHWT « (4)
(continued)
Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable
registration registered and fully to the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
A% 0y 7 % i) AV A 2t
R A i YR "k
LR BRI AR A I % LR
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/ HK$14,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
(Shantou) Company Mainland China 14,320,000% 7o of cakes
Limited* A G Vil PN HRRE
il 5 G R SR A R ] A
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food PRC/ US$11,000,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing of
Co., Ltd.* 7 Mainland China 11,000,00035 JG canned beverages
VUM (R RS ARR AR v kb T 5 B L
Four Seas (Shantou) Foods PRC/ HK$30,500,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Industrial Park Management Mainland China 30,500,000% 7C E$d)d
Co., Ltd.* A i VT PN
VU Gl B fe i T8 3
B R T A
Four Seas (Yang Shan) PRC/ HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Development Company Mainland China (2009: ESY)d
Limited* A il VPN HK$14,000,000)
VY A5 L 8 J A R ] 20,000,000% G
(ZRFNE
14,000,000% 7C )
Four Seas Foods PRC/ HK$71,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
(Shantou) Co., Ltd.* » Mainland China 71,000,000 76 confectionery and
PO A ISR A RRA R~ ok B food products
B B
289
MmN E®EERAR =2 — 2 & % 133



134
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Notes to Financial Statements
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Name

Lk

Four Seas (Hebei) Food
Company Limited* *

P (L) e AT A 7 A

Four Seas Logistics Company
Limited

P A R 4w

Four Seas Trading (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd.* 7
U 5 (R AR AR A

Four Seas Catering Enterprises
Company Limited

VU A SR A PR

Four Seas Confectionery
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* A
VYR RN A7 R A ] A

Gainfaith Investments
Limited

Guang Dong Fourseas
Frozen Food Products
Co., Ltd.* »

JEE Y 9 4 A i
HIRAT

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

ik W
X B 0

PRC/
Mainland China
O K B

Hong Kong
LR

PRC/
Mainland China
K B

Hong Kong
R

PRC/
Mainland China
K

British Virgin
Islands

I JE 2 B B

PRC/
Mainland China
WO K B

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

registered and fully

paid-up capital
A% 0y
31943 )
B 8 R TR A v

HK$24,000,000
24,000,000% &

HK$200,000
200,000% 70

US$200,000
200,0003& 75

HK$10,000
10,0003 JC

HK$7,000,000
7,000,000%% G

US$1
1370

RMB10,300,000
NG
10,300,00075G
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AAT 2 LEMEAFGFEDT = (8)

Percentage of equity
attributable

to the Company
Indirect

7% 2 vl ME AV A
"k

A I %

Direct

- 100.0

- 100.0

- 100.0

- 100.0

- 80.0

- 100.0

- 100.0

Principal activities

ER-E 3

Processing

of chestnuts

BT

Provision of

transportation services

T o M

Trading in
confectionery and

food products
B B
285

Investment holding

BE I

Manufacturing
of snack foods

UNE 3

Investment holding

BE

Trading in
confectionery and
food products
and frozen food
products

R Bt b
RWAMZHE S
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Name

Lk

High Joy Investments
Limited

HRAEAH WA

Hong Kong Confectionery
Company Limited

AR R A A

Hong Kong Ham Holdings
Limited

7898 R R T A R ]

Hong Kong Biscuit
(International) Limited*

BB (W) A A 7]«

Homeright Properties
Limited

FMEE AR AT

IFSCO Hong Kong Limited

J.P. Inglis Company Limited
P L AR IR AR

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

ik W
X B 0

Hong Kong
i

Hong Kong
&

Hong Kong
&

Hong Kong
LR

British Virgin
Islands

P I8 B B

Hong Kong
LR

Hong Kong
&

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered and fully
paid-up capital
A% 0y

31943 )

B 8 R TR A v

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000 ¢

HK$7,000,000
7,000,000% 75

HKS$20
20% 7T

HK$40,000,000
40,000,000% 7o

US$1
1370

HK$57,200,000
57,200,000% ¢

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000 ¢

g

1977 B )& 2\l 2 B8 ()

AAT 2 LEMEAFGFEDT = (8)

Percentage of equity
attributable

to the Company
Indirect

7% 2 vl ME AV A
"k

I %

Direct

Hk

- 100.0

- 100.0

- 100.0

- 99.3

- 100.0

100.0 -

- 100.0

N & B B R 2

Principal activities

ER-E 3

Restaurant

operations

RERR

Investment holding

BE I

Manufacturing
and packaging
of ham and
ham-related
products
RERa%
K8 B A B
KB E i

Investment holding

B M

Holding of
trademarks

R TR

Investment holding

BE M

Trading in
food materials

i JRRHE 5

2 — =2 5 £ 5 135
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Notes to Financial Statements
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Name

A 4

KTC Corporation*
JOE 5 B 7 o o A

Kanro Four Seas Foods
Company Limited

ELE I SRy A

Kanro Four Seas Foods
(Shantou) Co., Ltd.* »

H AP £ 5 i)
HRA T A

Kwong Cheung

Development Limited

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai

Vegetarian Cuisine Limited

Rk LR AR A

Li Fook (Qingdao)
Foods Co., Ltd.* »

R &
A A

Luck Healthy Limited

Matchless Bakery Company

Limited

A I A PR

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

ik W
X B 2 0

Japan

H A

Hong Kong
LR

PRC/
Mainland China
g, v K

British Virgin
Islands

I JE 2 B B

Bl

Hong Kong
&

PRC/
Mainland China
K B

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin
Islands

P JE L e

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

registered and fully

paid-up capital

A% 0y
31943 )
B 8 R TR A v

JPY 10,000,000
10,000,000 H &

HK$50,550,000

50,550,000% 70

HK$50,203,380
50,203,380% 70

US$1
1370

HK$3,660,000
3,660,000% 7T

US$3,320,000
3,320,0003& 70

HKS$1
1370

HK$20,000,000
20,000,000 75
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AAT 2 LEMEAFGFEDT = (8)

Percentage of equity
attributable

to the Company
Indirect

7% ) AV 2t
HAK

H# I %

Direct

- 100.0

- 82.5

- 82.5

- 100.0

- 99.0

- 100.0

- 100.0

- 100.0

Principal activities

ER-E 3

Trading in cakes

HEEH A

Investment holding

L a <Y

Manufacturing

of candies

BER G

Investment holding

BE I

Restaurant

operations

BREKE

Manufacturing

of noodles

iy R

Property holding

By

Investment holding

BE I
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

1977 B )& 2\l 2 B8 ()

(continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAFZ EEMBAFGEHWT « (4)
(continued)
Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable
registration registered and fully to the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
A% L0 A 4% s WA B i
b WL Y HAak
EEA Hal R WEWE RSB fE % I EX =31
Mass Joy Investments Hong Kong HKS$1 - 51.0 Investment holding
Limited il 1 BE I
More Ways Industrial Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 66.7 Investment holding
Limited A 10,000% 7t BE I
ZHEAFEARAT
Namtien Noodle Limited* Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
1 K S A7 B iR 1,000% 75 of noodles
LR
New Kondo Trading Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in Japanese
Company Limited iR 1,000,000% 7C food materials
ST A R AT H A i
JERH S 5
Papochou Holdings Limited British Virgin HK$15,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
HEWEMA R Islands 15,000,000% 7 BE I
B IR L B
Restaurant Shiki Limited Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100.0 Restaurant
Hib 3,200,000% JC operations
BRERE
Royalstar Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100.0 Car park
R 2WIT operations
R AR

I & B AR 2 A e

2 -2 5 8% 137
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(continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

Br 15 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=A=+—8

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Name

Lk

Shenzhen Matchless Food
Co., Ltd.* A

TN A&
A~

Somerset Technology
Limited

Sushi Pro Limited
(“Sushi Pro”)

wERERAHE
([FAl &)

Shousihuang Restaurant
(Shenzhen)
Company Limited* *
7 SR BE ()
A B 7 A

Tohato Four Seas
Company Limited
SR 79 I A R 2

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

ik W
X B 0

PRC/
Mainland China
K B

British Virgin
Islands

£y )il

Hong Kong
LR

PRC/
Mainland China
O K B

Hong Kong
&

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered and fully
paid-up capital
A% 0y

31943 )

B 8 R TR A v

RMB12,300,000
NG
12,300,0007G

US$1
1370

HK$9,000,000
9,000,000 JG

HK$7,300,000
7,300,000 ¢

HK$7,000,000
7,000,000 70
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AAT 2 LEMEAFGFEDT = (8)

Percentage of equity
attributable

to the Company

Direct Indirect
7% 2 vl ME AV A

"k

A I %

- 100.0

- 100.0

- 100.0
(2009: 50.0)
(ZE2FNE 500

- 100.0
(2009: 50.0)
(ZRFNE :50.0°)

- 80.0

Principal activities

ER-E 3

Bakery and

factory operations

B I R
THzEE

Investment holding

B

Investment holding

Restaurant

operations

BRERR

Investment holding

BE
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 1974 BB A v 2 Be & (4)

(continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAFZ EEMBAFGEHWT « (4)
(continued)
Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable
registration registered and fully to the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
A% 0y 7 % i) AV A 2t
R A 31943 ) "k
LR BRI AR A I % LR
Tsun Fat (Huizhou) PRC/ HK$13,000,000 - 99.3 Manufacturing
Biscuit Factory Limited* Mainland China 13,000,000% 7t of biscuits
B8 (RN BF R B Ok R LR 3
A2 ] A
T & M Advertising Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Advertising agency
Company Limited B 20¥7C Jo 7 AR
BREHHRAFH
Yaohan (Yanwin) Food Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Co., Limited LR 10,0003 7c B M
IR (258) & i A BRA A
B L PRC/ HK$8,000,000 - 66.7 Poultry business
A R 7] A Mainland China 8,000,000 7t P B
/o K B
B M I PRC/ RMB48,959,210 - #99.0 Restaurant
GZ Panxi* M Mainland China (2009: operations
LB KEE RMB32,208,680) BERE
AR #48,959,2107E
e = Ji%:x
A R#32,208,6807C)
B M T 3 R LR PRC/ RMB6,500,000 - 100.0 Raising and sale
AR A A Mainland China N of peafowls
i VTN 6,500,0007C i I 9
moM %k ®EBERALAT -2 - 258 139
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31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=A=+—8

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Name

Lk

Al L 71 s o 8 4
A A A

B 1007 0 R T R

i Tl B A R ]

5 70 D R
AR T

AU ()
AR

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

ik W
X B 0

PRC/
Mainland China
K B

PRC/
Mainland China
g, v K

PRC/
Mainland China
B K

PRC/
Mainland China
G PN

PRC/
Mainland China
K B

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered and fully
paid-up capital
A% 0y

31943 )

B 8 R TR A v

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000 ¢

RMB$200,000
A B #200,00078

RMBS500,000

A B#500,0008

HK$37,000,000
37,000,000% G

HK$2,000,000
2,000,000% 7C
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1977 B )& 2\l 2 B8 ()

AAT 2 LEMEAFGFEDT = (8)

Percentage of equity
attributable

to the Company
Indirect

7% 2 vl ME AV A
"k

I %

Direct Principal activities

Hk ER-E 3

- 51.0 Manufacturing
of packing
materials

4 B} A
- 100.0 Retailers of

snack foods

NERET

- 100.0 Trading in
confectionery

and food products
BER &

BMZHE Y

- 100.0 Manufacturing
and packaging
of ham and
ham-related
products
Rk R adk
K B A I
KB fib

- 100.0 Trading in
food materials

M ZHE 5



19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

* Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network.

" These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises under the PRC law.

AN This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign co-operative joint
venture under the PRC law.

# During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group had a casting vote
in these subsidiaries and accordingly the Group had control cover
them.

##  Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement entered into by the Group
and BEM T 7% ¥ N ROBOM B A7 & B B EASBLR (the “Vendor™)
for the acquisition of GZ Panxi, the Vendor retains 1% shareholding
in GZ Panxi and is not entitled to any share of the profit or loss
in GZ Panxi nor has the right to participate in the operation or
management of GZ Panxi but has the veto right in the following:

- the alteration of the tax registration of GZ Panxi in Liwan
District, Guangzhou, the PRC;

- the alteration of the use of the building occupied by GZ Panxi
other than the Cantonese style restaurant operation; and

- the use of the trademark of GZ Panxi.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group:

(a) acquired an additional 50% equity interest in Sushi
Pro at a cash consideration of HK$5,600,000; and

(b) acquired a 91% equity interest in Eat & International
at a cash consideration of HK$1,591,000.

Details of the acquisition set out in note (a) above are
included in the Company’s announcement dated 10
September 2009.

Further details of the acquisition set out in note (b) above

are included in note 33 to the financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements
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1977 B )& 2\l 2 B8 ()

g

w0 I A HE KK B R BT B Ak A BR A A
HoAb il 5 2 R o

A AR I A R T v N R A A
AT A

AN RSB 2 T T v N R o kA M A o
L RE (e

#  BEZRFUEZH=ZAHIRER . KEM
T % 5 T IR A ) A e e — 5 > R A SR
BEAT S T RE o

o RLUR A SR ) SR T A 3 I\ ROBUR IR
BB A R (55 7 1) W00 BB 28 AT o 2 i
JBe 185 BT AR B 1 9% 2 PR R SRR 5 fEL 40
TR 5 =55 B W P48 2 AT ) i ) Bl R - O JEAE 2
LI BB AR B B o M R B A
YA

= SEE RN R R RN T A I B
il s

— RN PR AL 2 A S T s B R
REUIZ & s K

- BEMMETEEZ M

BEZ-FHE=ZH=E+HIRFE > K
EM

(a) WO W) B Z BANS0% B HE - Bl R
18 %5,600,0008 7 5 K

(b) W RBR £ Z91% B HE » Bl & R1E
#1,591,000¥ G ©

A B B R R () 2 WO Z 1 — B - ©
BRAAFRZRZZRELATAZAE
W o

A B B R R (o) 2 W 2 — B - B
U T 5 o M RE33 Y

N E EB AR AR - = — 2 8% 141
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group:

(a) acquired an additional 49% equity interest in
Abundant Capital Inc. at a cash consideration of
HK$4,536,000;

(b) acquired an additional 70% equity interest in Four
Seas (Suzhou) Food Co., Ltd. (“FS Suzhou”), a then
associate of the Group, at a cash consideration of
JPY380,000,000 (equivalent to HK$30,561,000).
Since then, FS Suzhou has become a wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Group;

(c) acquired a 51% equity interest in Namtien Noodle
Limited (“Namtien”) at a cash consideration of HK$1;

and

(d) acquired an additional 50% equity interest in
Four Seas Confectionery Company Limited (“FS
Confectionery”), a then associate of the Group, at
a cash consideration of HK$7,000. Since then, FS
Confectionery has become a wholly-owned subsidiary

of the Group.

Further details of the acquisitions set out in notes (b) to (d)

above are included in note 33 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010

19. 7% B & 2 v 2 80 % (4)

BRECZFNE=ZHA=+—HILFEH
> ACEEH -

(a) W Abundant Capital Inc.Z #4PM49%
JBERE > Bl 4 A %54,536,000% 7T 3

(b) W A 4 B R 2 T N R DY N (R
M) £ SR B2 H] (Yo #R N ) Z %
ANT0% % HE > Bl 4 AR A £5380,000,000
H H (% 1830,561,000% 7C) - A It >
VY YN R I 5k 2 A B 1 2 2 Y I ]

(c) WM RHUBMAMAR (MR Z
51%BHE > Bl BRIt s &

(d) Wi A 48 8] 5 IRy 22 648 /A W] Four Seas
Confectionery Company Limited ([ FS
Confectionery |) Z % 4F50% B HE >
Bl 4 R %7,000% 58 - H L > FS
Confectionery B 4 A< £8 ] 2 2 % [ )&

R

A B bk B R (o) E(d)Z W = i —
T > T B H R P RE33 I o

R0 A DL B P R I A 1 AR M SR A
ARG EEA R ZE R FEEZ
T E AT > R W RES AR T H
23wl A R R A TR o
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. JA Wk B 2 Fl 2 HE
Group
L]

2010 2009
“E R “EERNE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Goodwill on acquisition PR WS S 2 2R 2 T R 477 477
Share of net assets JE AN & A A 145,921 138,827
146,398 139,304
The amounts due from the associates included in the B 45 B R B E N 2 6 N T R GER A I

Group’s current assets are unsecured, interest-free and e~ B > HAARBMIER -

repayable on demand.

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances with A4 [ B S N T 2 EW R AT B 5 Rk
the associates are disclosed in notes 24 and 27 to the ZEER T4 B R R B S A B R 24 27 o

financial statements, respectively.

MmN &£ B AERAR =T — 2 F F % 143
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Notes to Financial Statements
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

Name
kY

Calbee Four Seas
Company Limited

FHBIWA R A

Calbee Four Seas (Shantou)
Company Limited (i)
R B (I 57) A R A H ()

Cadbury Four Seas
Company Limited (i)(ii)
R YA PR A G)(Gi)

Guangzhou Meiji Confectionery
Company Limited (i)(ii)
B M A 36 R A R4 1 ) (i)

Guangdong M&F-Yantang
Dairy Products Company
Limited (i)(ii)

Jo SR I W ke 0 7L 3E A PR W () i)

Meiji-Four Seas
Company Limited (ii)
W36 Y ARG

Particulars of
issued shares held

Fif CBAT
e By ¥

Ordinary shares
of HKS1 each
e T A 19 T
Z W

Paid-up capital
B A

Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each
M 1 T
Z M

Paid-up capital
B BA

Paid-up capital
VN

Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each
M E 1 T
ZH M

20. Gk 48 A v 2 BE R (7))

B A RERE T
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ equity attributable
registration to the Group
R 4 AN
X i o L EXipig
Hong Kong 50.0
&
PRC/ 50.0
Mainland China
ST PRl PN
Hong Kong 30.0
B
PRC/ 30.0
Mainland China
e K B
PRC/ 21.0
Mainland China
e K
Hong Kong 30.0
LR

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Principal

activities

EX-E 3

Manufacturing
of snack foods

MR

Manufacturing
of snack foods

UL S

Trading in
confectionery

BRE S

Manufacturing
of snack foods

and confectionery

N BB R B

Manufacturing
of ice-cream and
dairy products
E i B

Investment holding

B



20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Particulars of the associates are as follows: (continued)

Place of
Particulars of incorporation/
Name issued shares held registration
RAECRT R A
R JBe B3 ik Xl i M
MFD Holding Company Limited (i) Ordinary shares Hong Kong
7Y B L3 A PR A () of HK$1 each RS
5 Jj T 1 9 T
Z BB
Nico-Nico Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong
Company Limited (ii) of HK$1 each 7
1 1 PG A PR i) 5 Mot i 19 e
Z
Nico Four Seas (Shantou) Paid-up capital PRC/
Co., Ltd. (i)(i) BB Mainland China
O 18 () AR 2 51 ) i) il VPN
Want Want Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong
Company Limited (i)(ii) of HK$1 each B
B HE: 79 9 A G 2 ) ) I A 19 T
Z BB
Notes: VA
(i)  Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of (i)
the Ernst & Young global network.
(ii) The financial statements of these associates are not coterminous (ii)

Notes to Financial Statements

BY %5 8 & MY &

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=H=+—§H

20. Gk 48 A v 2 BE R (7))

Big AR ERWT - (8D

with that of the Group and have financial year ending 31 December.

These associates use 31 December as their financial year end date

to conform with their holding companies’ reporting date or statutory

requirements.

Mmoo &= ®mAERA@E =% — 2 F 5% 145

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Group

5 1 A
Lt pig

30.0

35.0

35.0

30.0

Principal

activities

EX-E 3

Investment holding

BE R

Investment holding

Ea <Y

Manufacturing

of seaweed products

FOE R R

Trading of
snack foods

MRS

3 I P A 8 2 K B A B T 4k A BR A A

FoAb gl B A R A o

i ST O T T O B B A AT H
HARLEBMGAE > HMBAE AT H B2
Z=F—H FEUTHZE+— H R I B4
BT H 2 A w) B R A Rl 2 B H

o i 8 TR MR
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

The financial statements of above associates are
coterminous with those of the Group, except for associates
as mentioned in (ii) above, for which the consolidated
financial statements are adjusted for the material
transactions between their financial year end date and the

Group’s year end date.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of
losses of Cadbury Four Seas Company Limited because
the share of losses of the associate exceeded the Group’s
interest in this associate. The Group’s unrecognised
share of losses of this associate for the current year and
cumulatively were HK$7,875,000 (2009: HK$6,274,000)
and HK$14,149,000 (2009: HK$6,274,000), respectively.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associates extracted from their

management accounts:

Assets R
Liabilities =R
Revenue YN
Profit/(loss) WA ()
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20. Gk 48 A v 2 BE R (7))

M A ) 2 B R o SELAC 4R I B
0 — W ME B RGBT A 2 B O ) B
B o fk i S 5 o AP 5 B AR AR R B
R HZ M2 H KRR G i -

EH P A 2 [ A 3 | R Y A BR A R 2 0
R 0 A AR R T A R Z RS > BRI
BRI 1Y A /N oF = I N
B A A B REAN W T R A R R R Z
B & Bt 84 B %47,875,0008 008 (=&
FILA 1 6,274,000% C) 5 14,149,000% 7T
(ZREBILLE £ 6,274,000870) °

A W e A 4 I 0B A W] 2 B R
o s AR EZ RN ¢

2010 2009
e Sl 248 ZERNE
HKS$’000 HKS$°000
W T BT o
448,030 461,758
117,689 122,238
473,220 523,028
12,348 (14,178)



21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
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21. ] fit b B Bt

INVESTMENTS
Group Company
£ A

2010 2009 2010 2009
SR CRRE CF CFE DR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
wHTOL  #WTo #iTx BWFTT

Listed equity investments, bW ERRE

at fair value: A -

Hong Kong ik 55,889 43,494 254 120
Club debenture, at fair value TR > A TPAE 327 327 — -
Unlisted equity investments, FELEHHERIRE

at cost & AR 8,823 8,798 - -

65,039 52,619 254 120

During the year, the net gain in respect of the Group’s
available-for-sale investments recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to HK$22,028,000
(2009: net loss of HK$20,730,000), of which gain of
HK$27,637,000 (2009: HK$1,041,000) was reclassified
from other comprehensive income to the income statement

for the year.

The above investments consist of investments in equity
securities which were designated as available-for-sale
financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon

rate.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based
on quoted market prices. The unlisted available-for-sale
equity investments were stated at cost because the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of

them in the near future.

g

AR > AR A R At 2 e e A T R 2 T
Bt B B IR 25 £522,028,0009 06 (Z
TR+ FEHE20,730,000%8) » ML
H127,637,000% 76 Z W % (ZFRILAE :
1,041,000% 70 ) 7 AR 45 JE A I Ath 2 i W
ABHrBEEREE -

bl AR R A R R B AR
o WY B R o LB I B R
SRR e

TR AR 4 2 O AR AR T B A
I b v Rt B A B TS DL BR
WG TS R A BRSSP AG B Z SR OKK > 3
FRR LA FEAGE T SE MG - AL HE
RO A0 A R
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21.AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, there had been
a significant decline in the market value of certain
listed equity investments. The directors considered
that such a decline indicated that the listed equity
investments had been impaired and an impairment loss of
HK$36,342,000, which included a reclassification from
other comprehensive income of HK$36,342,000, had been
recognised in the income statement for the year ended 31
March 2009. No impairment losses have been recognised

for the listed equity investments during the current year.

22. CURRENT LIVESTOCK

Breeder chicks AR
Hatchable eggs ik
Day-old chicks A

Due to the generally short breeding and raising cycle of the
chicks and because an active market does not exist, these
livestock are classified as current assets and are stated at
cost less any impairment and a reconciliation of changes
in the carrying amount of biological assets between the
beginning and the end of the current financial year is not

presented.
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21, wf 4 i A B (4)

RECRFANE=ZA=Z+T—HILEE >
T LR B Z KR Tk - EHER
Fy oo Bo AT BN bR 2 B B s
8% 19 98 14 5 136,342,000 ¢ > H P B
H il 2 T W\ BT 43 BH Z2.36,342,000%5
Lo WERREZFRFENMFE=ZHA=1+—H
IRAE 22 W35 MR o AR > Ll fiE
i BB I 0 e R DA 4 o

2.EBE®
Group
£
2010 2009
“E R “EFhE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
2,301 2,207
825 905
1,086 1,416
4,212 4,528

P S W — e B 0 % ) 5 T
B M S8 3 R T 45 > WCHE DR A A BB A
B o M 3 A IAT T SRR AR
B AR Vb i A B 28 4 A 2 MR i i 3 By 2
HIRARAMEH 2] -



23. INVENTORIES
Raw materials J5ORE
Work in progress 2 18 i
Finished goods JEE JI, it

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables FE W B 5 BE ak
Impairment WA

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally for a period of one to three months, extending up
to four to five months for major customers. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-

interest-bearing.
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23, f# 1%

Group
L]

2010 2009

“E R “EERNE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
45,376 42,534
6,370 6,069
138,421 119,368
190,167 167,971

2 X
24. HE BB B MR
Group
# M

2010 2009
Sk CRELE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
443,104 432,450
(3,296) (2,763)
439,808 429,687

AREHEEF 2B ARG &R T
WE P — B BRI o 58— A
—E=MA R EEEFEFME > TERE
REMZERMA - BEEFHAFEEHR L
PR o ACHR [ Jy S R A% 2 i B o R W 2
WOk T o I £ R o e 2 B I o e
L ST A ) A B o SR L
i s DA R AR 2 B SRR X2 £
JeALHIZ P AT B > PR I Sl i T R AR B4R
JE K o FE WA BT B R Ak TS S o
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24, TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24, HEWC R B Rk (48)

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of

provisions, is as follows:

Within 1 month HEAH N
1 to 2 months 12218 H
2 to 3 months 2% 36 H
Over 3 months 3iE H A |k

The movements in provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year AR
Impairment losses recognised L e w2 ik L M 4R
(note 7) (K aE7)

Amount written off as uncollectible ) /F & ¥ Wt 8] = $if 84 2 16

At end of year A #%
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IR > AR BT H O R BRI 2
FEWCR 5 MRk Z IR B e At R -

Group
£ L

2010 2009

e S 2.8 ZERRE

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT BT T

172,517 157,960

86,394 72,816

70,345 69,449

110,552 129,462

439,808 429,687

B WAL S o M ik 2 9 8 A 2 B I 1R 0 A
T

Group
L]

2010 2009

R FA —FRFIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
2,763 1,457

1,445 1,525
912) (219)

3,296 2,763



24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$3,296,000 (2009: HK$2,763,000) with
a gross carrying amount before provision of HK$3,296,000
(2009: HK$2,763,000). The individually impaired trade
receivables relate to customers that were in default or
delinquency in payments and are not expected to be
recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over these balances.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired N 40 761 3 =k I
Less than 1 month past due a3 A L E H
1 to 3 months past due i iR (DA

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

Included in trade receivables are amounts due from
the Group’s associates of HK$1,115,000 (2009:
HK$1,870,000), which are repayable on similar credit
terms to those offered to the major customers of the Group.
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24, HEWC R 5 Rk (78)

g

I e R Wi B S MR ek =z A R A A
5 I 48 B i %53,296,0008 00 (—EE
4 :2,763,0004 70 ) Z A8 1 E WL B 5 MRk AR
H A 8 453,296,000 6 (B F LA ¢
2,763,000% 6) A B % 5 Z 5 T
18 22 JE W BT 5 B ik T o Y A M R K
A AR 2 R T TR o AN A [ S JHE R 5 A
R P A A o] HE A 5 B A £ 3R -

P % R AE 2 MWL B 5 HR sk =z R B 43 A
T

Group
L]

2010 2009
e S 222 ZRENE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
429,476 415,705
2,616 5,484
7,716 8,498
439,808 429,687

Sl 48 76 91 8 AL -2 B AR T i % 0 1 i
RFLskZ REAFZ S -

28 391 4HL Sif SR 0 2 Wk JEL 3 % A
BA TR BRI ZFF o REREL
B> AARERRS > HRNEEHBZE
R R MR RS T > % F AR S
AT A U Il o A R AR R R o AR
VB S S % S5 A5 B A A T FG A i R At
& #T -

ﬁ%ﬁ%% KA 5 A 4 I s A WA R
Z KT 1,115,000 8 (R LA -
1,870,000% 7T ) > Tij %2 2k 199 B AK 48 [ 4% 7

HIFEEPZEERHBH -

N & B B R 2
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

Prepayments

Deposits and other receivables

Less: Deposits classified as
non-current assets

Current portion

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate

25. AT K ~ W) 4 B A HE ek
H
Group Company
ey 2]
2010 2009 2010 2009
TR BAE ZRFPE EF B ZEFNLE
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
T BT T BWFTT
TEAT K 67,691 69,009 149 133
T 4 B At JE Wk JE 47,870 43,992 - -
115,561 113,001 149 133
W B4 A JER B
BEZR & (17,941) (18,466) - _
B 4 97,620 94,535 149 133

to receivables for which there was no recent history of

default.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e

a7 N SR YT A o bt G B A
P <5 b 5 7 A0 0 JHE 0t A0 k2 MEWAGRKOE

26 e B E&SAHH
Group Company
£y | A
2010 2009 2010 2009
R B ZRBE EF R ZEFRLE
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
EWTOL BT EWToe ¥ TI
Bl & K AT B 7 239,701 190,127 350 263
7 W17 K 269,559 292,776 - -
BEeRB4&%EEH 509,260 482,903 350 263
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$122,668,000 (2009: HK$108,449,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange

business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with

creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

27. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER

PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Trade payables A & 5 Rk
Other payables At M A 5k T
Accruals =R

Notes to Financial Statements
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26. Bl BBl FMEMEH (5)

ERE IR » ARG E DR (T AR
BIME Z Bl 4 S SRAT 4517 %5 122,668,000% 7T
(ZFFAE 1 108,449,000 50) - AR
A% H H S 2 I Al 5 W > HAR B K
iz A JEE 457 T A f30) A 245 BEE ~ S EE % ) O B
BLoE > A HE B 3 v 95 408 9 5 T 4 47 A1 BEE B4,
o SE 2 RAT A N ROWE Sh e 2 oAb B o

SRAT BB 1R H BRAT A2 R R DU B AR
WRIDCF B, o S E WA SR T3 AP — H =
ZMAZA R AR BLP AR B Z B
IRF B4 oK > M3 A A 2 K ) Ak
AR B G o SRAT A5 R TS A7 20 1 i 4
R RO BRI A AR RAT

27. BEAY BB ek ~ I HE A sk

Be W wit £ 45
Group Company
#M A

2010 2009 2010 2009
SR eEE CRFAE FRE CEENE
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T EWTo BT BFTT
155,458 140,882 - -
49,765 42,041 - _
91,901 94,281 879 1,036
297,124 277,204 879 1,036

g
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27. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(continued)

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 1 month IEDERY]
1 to 2 months 12216 A
2 to 3 months 2% 3fi H
Over 3 months 3ME A ULk

Included in the trade payables are trade payables of
HK$45,965,000 (2009: HK$52,174,000) due to associates,
which are normally settled on 30-day to 60-day terms.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on 30-day to 60-day terms. Other payables
are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three

months.
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27. MEAY B S Rk ~ Al HE A sk I
Be Wit £ (5)

IR ARBEEE ST HOH Z A B 5 IR
K IR AT E

Group
£ L

2010 2009
CEEE CFRRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
107,121 81,821
22,216 35,529
12,564 13,242
13,557 10,290
155,458 140,882

AT B 5 M K O 8 66 45 RO 8 A R 2
it & 5 873K 45,965,0008 7T ( R ILAE ¢
52,174,000¥7C) > 1% — B #%30% 60 H #1
R A5 -

JEASF B2 5 e ok 2 9 8 % — e 323060 H 1
FRAGAE o L Ath HE ALK IE TS %0 8, > £ B
BR=MA -
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 28. A S M B Z BT £

BORROWINGS

2010 2009

"R R RN
Effective Effective

Group interest rate Maturity HEK$’000  interest rate Maturity HK$’000
£ Y ES FMH #W T HBRA % FH A W
Current
HH
Trust receipt loans — unsecured 0.5%-2.4% Within 109,646 1.4%-4.6% Within 127,418
TG0 15 FE MO 12 months 12 months

12 H i 126 A A
Bank loans — unsecured 0.6%-5.1% Within 538,447 1.2%-6.9% Within 618,082
RGN SRAT 12 months 12 months

12 1 W 126 A A
Bank loans - secured 0.9%-1.6% Within 7,963 6.4%-6.8% Within 11,114
A HRAT B 12 months 12 months

2A W 126 A A

656,056 756,614

Non-current

FHEM
Bank loans - unsecured 09%-1.0% 2011 - 2013 143,250 1.3% 2010 -2011 22,763
JEHE 0 SR AT Bk e 3 R R
El ST Bk
Bank loans - secured 0.5% 2011 -2012 11,375 -
A SR AT B e
[t Sy
154,625 22,763
810,681 719,377
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS (continued)

Analysed into: SR A
Bank loans: ATRR ¢
Within one year BN
In the second year BN
In the third to fifth years, I T S
inclusive B E R WA

Notes:

(a)

(b)

©

Certain bank loans of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary are secured
by the pledge of certain leasehold land and buildings of that non-
wholly-owned subsidiary amounting to HK$2,706,000 (2009:
HK$1,840,000) and HK$9,014,000 (2009: HK$5,009,000),
respectively.

All the bank and trust receipt loans bear interest at floating interest
rates. Their carrying amounts approximate to their fair values.

Except for the bank loans denominated in Japanese Yen equivalent
to HK$32,082,000 (2009: HK$76,083,000), the bank loans
denominated in RMB equivalent to HK$138,548,000 (2009:
HK$129,174,000) and the bank loan denominated in United States
dollars equivalent to HK$1,068,000 (2009: HK$3,101,000), all
other bank borrowings at the end of the reporting period were in
Hong Kong dollars.
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28. HGLAT R B 2 B AT Bk ()

(b)

(c)

Group
|

2010 2009
S CRBAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
656,056 756,614
57,000 22,763
97,625 -
810,681 779,377

T I 2 BB WS W) Z SRAT A5 84 0 A%
I 2 B P IE 2 W) B 1E £92,706,000% 70 (—
FZ LA+ 1,840,000% 78) £9,014,000% 7C (=
FEIAE 1 5,009,0009 70) Z FE + H S pE g2
Ae 2 TR AR o

I SRAT B A F0 i Bk 3 DA B ARG
R TR BT A P A A o

B M1 %5 832,082,000 J6 (= F F L4 -
76,083,000% 70 ) DL H [HI 5 MR < 847 883K ~ M
J*138,548,000% 78 (ZFFRILAE 1 129,174,000
J0) DI R B iR Z 84T Bk BAH 272 1,068,000
Wt (ZFEERIAE ¢ 3,101,000970) PL3EICHI IR
ZERAT AL o A AR AT B AOR R
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29. DEFERRED TAX 29. 4B %t B K
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during PAENBEREAEREEZIEZHNT -
the year are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities B %t B JH £ 4%
Group - 2010 e YL Bt S 213
Fair value
adjustment

Accelerated  arising from
tax acquisition of  Revaluation ~Withholding

depreciation  subsidiaries of properties taxes Total
PRI i D
bR O N
Wl ZATHNE WA ik At

HK$°000  HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
#Wrx  EWTx  #WTx BWTx  EWFTX

At 1 April 2009 RZFZNENHA—H 894 12,972 4,253 368 18,487

Deferred tax charged/ AR PR N
(credited) to the income mk/ GrA) 2

statement during the BRI (M 7E10)
year (note 10) (87) (445) 91) 511 (112)
Exchange realignment HE 56, i ¢ - 37 - - 37
At 31 March 2010 R-B-FHE=ZA=1+—H 807 12,564 4,162 879 18,412
Deferred tax assets WE %t B JH % A
Group - 2010 £ 30 Rt Sl 208
Losses
available for
Decelerated offsetting
tax against future
depreciation taxable profits Others Total
W Ji) DA BH A
i WEZEH Jofb it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T #W T BW T BT
At 1 April 2009 REZFFNENA—H 4 415 880 1,299
Deferred tax credited/(charged) NG &R
to the income statement FIA (k) Z
during the year (note 10) WIERLIE (Hf7t10) 1 - 1) -
At 31 March 2010 R-F—-FE=ZA=+—H 5 415 879 1,299

MmN E EmAERAR =T — 2 F 5% 157



158

Notes to Financial Statements

Br 15 8 & MY RE

31 March 2010 —ZE2—Z&=HA=+—H

29. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Group — 2009

At 1 April 2008

Deferred tax charged/
(credited) to the income
statement during
the year (note 10)

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2009

Deferred tax assets

Group — 2009

At 1 April 2008
Deferred tax charged

to the income statement
during the year (note 10)

At 31 March 2009

Accelerated

29. XE HE BEM (%)
HE %t BE I £1 4%
S - BB
Fair value

adjustment
arising from

tax acquisition of ~ Revaluation
depreciation  subsidiaries  of properties
DR W i
MBI A A A
il ZATERE  EER
HKS$000 HK$’000 HK$°000
W T W T edi
REZFZNENA—H 853 12,102 4,515
AR R R
e/ GtA) 2
BIEBLIE (Kt 10)
41 (733) (262)
HE 5 i 2% - 1,603 -
REZFNEZA=ZF—H 894 12,972 4,253
A B %8
HH - —EFE
Losses
available for
Decelerated offsetting
tax  against future
depreciation  taxable profits
W i DA S A A
i HEEZEH
HK$°000 HK$'000
HW T HW T
RZFRNENA—H 8 517
AR R WA R N
Mk 2 BB
(Hfit10) (4) (102)
REZRFAEZAZS—H 4 415
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Withholding
taxes

BB
HKS$'000

BT

368

368

Others

o
HK$'000

T

966

(86)

880

Total

st
HK$'000
W T

17,470

(586)
1,603

18,487

Total

HKS$'000
W T

1,491

(192)

1,299



29. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$85,060,000 (2009: HK$91,258,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$124,725,000 (2009: HK$105,463,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profit. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as, in the opinion of
directors, it is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be

utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of

earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the

payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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29, 3 #E B IH (7))

g

AEBGATBELEZBREERL S
85,060,000 7 (ZF FJL4 : 91,258,000
W oT) AR AR S BB R Z
AR ZRAEERBEF - REHFH B
o B B R A Y — = AR B 2 BLIE
W& 18 40 %5124,725,0008 76 (=R R JLAE ¢
105,463,000% 5) » "] FIAE#GH0 H 12 Z
PR R o % S5 TE e 4R I R e R R AR A
BIEHEE  REBDAEREHELTA L
A0 A AR B 3 R T AR B S 4 o

R 95 B A SE R AR BRI o 7 o IR K B o
ZHEHRERE MBI REEEIRZ B
BABWI0%TEIMBL - ZHEH T )N\
E—H—HEAEN WEAR EELAE
TZAZt—HBRZBH - FEEAARE
H P & B ¥ RE [ B b [ OK B RT A B IR
#y > oo A AR T T AR o B
i > WHBRAES% o HIb > A5 57
o g K e R o 2 B N W)l R R )\ AR —
H— B E A 2 R BT 40 Rk = B 8L B A 7R
OB
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Authorised: VE
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of

HK$0.10 each

Issued and fully paid: CBIT MR
390,745,640 (2009: 399,565,640)

ordinary shares of HK$0.10

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of
8,820,000 of its own shares on the Stock Exchange for an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$18,500,000.

All the repurchased shares were cancelled by the Company
upon such repurchase and, accordingly, the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value
of these shares. The premium paid on the repurchase
was charged to the share premium account. An amount
equivalent to the par value of the ordinary shares cancelled
was transferred to the capital redemption reserve as set out

in the consolidation statement of changes in equity.

The directors considered that, as the Company’s shares are
trading at a discount to the expected net asset value per
share, the repurchase of shares would be beneficial to the

Company.
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390,745,640/ (&%
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30. JBE AR

Bt £y
2010 2009
R R —REBIE
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT W T
100,000 100,000

L4 -

39,074 39,956

AR > A ] B A2 T i [l 368,820,000
T8 JBe A > HEARAE 4 %5 18,500,000 G ©

Ao A L I IR 8 BT AT O B 2 R
B > MACA T Z CBATRA B MG 45 i
B A Z SR o Ji 1] 2 O ¥ 1 7 i Ay
i AR MR 1T B o AH S O 0 O ML T A 2
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 30. JBeAS (78)
A summary of the repurchase of shares are as follows: I o] B A Wl F

Number of Price per share Total
shares repurchased Highest Lowest  price paid
P Bk el g% 4 8 H 5 It Dk B 1 [RELEE

Month H B B A%
HKS$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT T T
October 2009 ZERFLFETH 2,488,000 1.86 1.66 4,329
November 2009 ZEFNLET—H 1,922,000 2.06 1.84 3,697
December 2009 “EFLETZA 3,066,000 2.57 2.06 6,864
January 2010 SR RN 622,000 2.95 2.49 1,715
February 2010 SR -FRETNH 722,000 2.63 2.55 1,895
8,820,000 18,500

A summary of the transactions during the year with

RBFEARNFFENCBITEERAZEH Z

reference to the movements in the Company’s issued R HERT T :
ordinary share capital is as follows:
Number of Share
ordinary Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
[R% 5y
WABHH CBBA B ek A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T T#7T T#7T
At 1 April 2008, WZFFNENH—H -
31 March 2009 “EERNE=EA=T—H
and 1 April 2009 K ZFFJUENH —H 399,565,640 39,956 240,190 280,146
Repurchase of shares M [B] J§ 473 (8,820,000) (882) (17,618) (18,500)
At 31 March 2010 R_F—-FFE=H=+—H 390,745,640 39,074 222,572 261,646
Share options T B b
Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included NN ] 2 E B RE S ) B N B R R
in note 31 to the financial statements. 531 o

m oM EEBE R AR e =B — B
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the Company, and any executive director or employee of
any of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entity in which
the Group holds any equity interest.

The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
up to 16 September 2012, after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects.
Share options complying with the provisions of the Listing
Rules which are granted during the duration of the Scheme
and those remain unexercised immediately prior to the end
of the 10-year period shall continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of grant as within the share
option period for which such share options are granted,

notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 39,956,564
ordinary shares, being 10.0% of the shares of the Company
in issue on 2 September 2002. As at the date of this report,
the total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 39,956,564 ordinary shares, representing 10.2%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options granted to a director or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding an
independent non-executive director who is a grantee of the
share options). In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of each grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the
duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee with the number of shares
in respect of which the offer is accepted clearly stated
therein, together with payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company provided that
no offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry
of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to
(1) the subscription price; (ii) the period within which the
Company’s shares must be taken up under the share option,
which must not be more than 10 years from the offer
date; (iii) the minimum period, if any, for which a share
option must be held before it can be exercised; and (iv) the
performance target, if any, that must be achieved before

the share option can be exercised.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 3100 BB T ()

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the directors in their absolute discretion at the time of
the making of the offer which shall be stated in the letter
containing the offer, but may not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer
date which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option (2009: Nil) was granted
to directors and other employees of the Company or
employees of any of the Company’s subsidiaries and any
entities in which the Group holds any equity interests.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no
share options outstanding under the Scheme (2009: Nil).

32. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 52 to 53 of the financial statements.

The Group’s share premium account includes (i)
the credit of HK$19,900,000 which represents the
difference between the nominal value of the share
capital issued by the Company and the aggregate
nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993;
and (ii) the debit of HK$17,618,000 arising from the
repurchase of shares during the year ended 31 March
2010.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for
Foreign Investment Enterprises, a portion of the
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries and the Group’s
associates operating as Foreign Investment Enterprises
in Mainland China has been transferred to the reserve
funds. The reserve funds is non-distributable in nature
and can be utilised to offset the losses incurred.

The capital reserve represents the Group’s share of
capitalisation of retained profits by an associate.
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The Company’s share premium account includes (i)
the credit of HK$53,719,000 which represents the
difference between the nominal value of the share
capital issued by the Company and the combined
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) the debit
of HK$17,618,000 arising from the repurchase of
shares during the year ended 31 March 2010. Under
the Company Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands,
a distribution may be made from the share premium

account in certain circumstances.

The difference between the share premium account
of the Company and that of the Group represents
the difference between the aggregate nominal value
of the share capital of the subsidiaries and their
combined net assets acquired, pursuant to the group

reorganisation in 1993, as detailed above.

g

32. RESERVES (continued) 32. G i (78)
(b) Company (b) &
Available-
for-sale
Share investment Capital
premium revaluation redemption  Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
Wk A
B g
Jot ftfE MGG RERA st
Note HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
Wit EWFL EWFT BFTFr BNETr EWFL
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZZZNENA—HZ &R 274,009 87 - 0954 284,050
Total comprehensive income  4F 4 4 2 [ Wi £5
for the year - (101) - 33,680 33,579
Interim 2009 dividend ZRBNERHRA 12 - - - (7,991) (7,991)
Proposed final 2009 dividend —FFAEEHFALKE 12 - - - (19.978)  (19.978)
At 31 March 2009 REZFNEZA=ZF—H 274,009 (14) - 15,665 289,660
Total comprehensive income  4F [N 4 4 T i £
for the year - 133 - 31,309 31,442
Repurchase of shares il 0 ¢ A (17,618) - 882 (882) (17,618)
Interim 2010 dividend ZR-REPHRA 12 - - - (7,847) (7,847)
Proposed final 2010 dividend —ZF—FHERHALKE 12 - - - (19537)  (19,537)
At 31 March 2010 REZZ-FE=ZA=+—H 256,391 119 882 18,708 276,100

A2 ] B a1 B A 5 () 4% 853,719,000
WL Z IR > JIAR A A OB AT AR Z T
{H BRAR 38 — JUJU = 47 48 18 3 A0 P WO 2 Y
BARIZGHEEFEMEMZIEZ®E s &
(ii)17,618,000¥ L Z FNHE & » TN B E
FFEZH =1 H IR 4E B E B B
FEA o MLYRPH 2R AR B (RIERT) - 7
T 1 OUF AT A B v 0 MR o HE AT B R 4
Ik ©

A 2 ) B A T PR v (] 2 22 WG AR 9%
—HULEAEEEEA > ESCRR > Rl
Jilg 2 i Ja 2 W] <z JBEAS TG A A ALBRL L O
R T P T 25 e
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Eat & International as at the date of acquisition

and the corresponding carrying amounts immediately

(a) On 28 April 2009, the Group acquired 91% equity
interest in Eat & International at a cash consideration
of HK$1,591,000. Eat & International is engaged in
the operation of the restaurants.

before the acquisition were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Cash and bank balances
Trade payables
Other payables and
accruals

Minority interests

Excess over the cost of

business combination

Satisfied by cash

LE BN Y & e ]
e

Y W B 5 Rk
AR ~ 7T & K
At JE Wik T
Bl I SRAT A i
VEAF B 5 Bk
It ARk 5k X e
JE st £ 4

A B e R 25

3 S B A O AR
Z AR

VAB 48 2 A
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33. BB B bF

(a) RZFFLFENH =+/)\H » KXEH
W KR EAF Z2919% B HE » B4R E
#51,591,000% 7 o K B F 8% ¢ 25 4% g

wE .

R B 51 1 WA 39 T R
BR8P AR B 5 B Wi o JE AT 2 A

o M i {4

Fair value

recognised

on acquisition
T e 2

2 AL

Notes HK$’000
Vi3 BT
14 767
155

537

1,165

683
(602)

(531)
(196)

1,978

7 (387)

1,591

Previous
carrying
amount

2 i Wik i 4
HK$’000
T

767
155
537

1,165
683
(602)

(531)
(196)

1,978
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 33. R85 BF (4
(continued)
(a) (continued) (a) (#)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash WAL i B i o W) 2 Bl 4 KBl & S EIH H
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of a mHFEHE W

subsidiary is as follows:

HK$’000
BT o
Cash consideration B4R (1,591)
Cash and bank balances acquired O W 2 B 4 M SR AT A B 683
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents WAL O S W) 2 B
in respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary Bl H W A (908)
Since its acquisition, Eat & International contributed B % s KIRESEARLEBE KRR
HK$11,923,000 and HK$164,000 to the Group’s F-RE=ZA=+—HIEFEZK
revenue and profit for the year ended 31 March 2010. A B i R 43 5 5 211,923,000 76 K
164,000% JC °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning MREEASGNENEST » K4EH
of the year, the revenue of the Group and the T AR AR B Z W N B B R 4 B B
profit for the year of the Group would have been 2,348,489,000%% 75 12 83,140,000%5 JT ©
HK$2,348,489,000 and HK$83,140,000, respectively.
Excess over the cost of business combination of Eat Wl KRR BN AR B SR AR 2
& International of HK$387,000 was recognised in the FKIE387,000¥ 70 Tt M2 F N R »
income statement because the acquisition is bargain T H s e s R [ HE fT o
purchases.
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
(continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group had

the following acquisitions:

()

(i1)

(iii)

on 13 March 2009, the Group acquired an
additional 70% equity interest in FS Suzhou, a
then 30%-owned associate and a shareholder’s
loan of JPY772,640,000 (equivalent to
HK$62,138,000), at a cash consideration of
JPY380,000,000 (equivalent to HK$30,561,000).
FS Suzhou is engaged in the manufacturing of

canned beverages;

on 25 November 2008, the Group acquired
an additional 50% equity interest in FS
Confectionery, a then 50%-owned associate,
at a cash consideration of HK$7,000. FS
Confectionery is engaged in the marketing of
health foods; and

on 29 September 2009, the Group, acquired
a 51% equity interest in Namtien at a cash
consideration of HK$1. Namtien is engaged in the

manufacturing of noodles.
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 3B.EX¥ESPE(H)

(continued)

(b) (continued) (b) (%)
REEFFNFE=ZA=Z1T—HILF
BEZ WS > O WO B 2> W) R I
W H O a) P R KRR AP
B B Wi = T 2 AH B R v (L0

In respect of the acquisitions during the year ended 31
March 2009, the fair values of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries as at the
dates of acquisitions and the corresponding carrying
amounts immediately before the acquisitions were as

follows:

Fair value Previous
recognised carrying
on acquisition amount
Y I
Z AV S i Mk 1
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M &t BT o W F o
Property, plant and equipment ~ #3& ~ & 55 B &% 4 14 64,668 76,466
Prepaid land lease payments FEAT L A B AR 16 29,505 20,083
Inventories #& 3,859 3,859
Trade receivables JE W B 5 B sk 5,289 5,289
Prepayments, deposits and A RIE ~ 5T K
other receivables At JEE Wi ik 1,097 1,097
Cash and bank balances Bl Je {7 A 7,224 7,224
Trade payables JEAT B 5 Bk (4,302) (4,302)
Other payables and Al JRE A ok T
accruals JE & B E (718) (718)
Interest-bearing bank and JH AR B8R AT K
other borrowings H A A & (79,386) (79,386)
27,236 29,612
Shareholder’ s loan acquired % WA J B o B K 62,138
Excess over the cost of 4 3 O AR
business combinations Z AR 7 (50,638)
38,736
Satisfied by: VLT3 05 AT
Cash B4 30,568
Reclassification of interests W& v Z REAR
in associates GG | 8,168
38,736

N & B B R AT o = =
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
(continued)

(b) (continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the acquisitions of

subsidiaries was as follows:

3B. B AP ()

(b) (%)

WA i S 2 ) 2 B R B I H
W FHESHWE

HK$’000

BT T

Cash consideration B4R (30,568)

Cash and bank balances acquired C B 2 B4 R SR AT A5 AR 7,224
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents WAL O S W) 2 B

in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries Bl S H I H (23,344)

The contributions by the above subsidiaries to the
Group’ revenue and consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 March 2009 since their acquisition by the

Group were insignificant.

Had the combinations taken place at the beginning
of the prior year, the revenue of the Group and the
profit for the prior year of the Group would had been
HK$2,308,488,000 and HK$91,340,000, respectively.

Excess over the cost of business combinations
of FS Suzhou, FS Confectionery and Namtien of
HK$50,638,000 was recognised in the income
statement because the acquisitions are bargain

purchases.
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 4. KA A
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not AR > M AR B kR b 1 e
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: ZHAREEWT -
Group Company
£ L] |
2010 2009 2010 2009
SR CRFAE CFRE CEEAE
HK$’ 000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
T EWTo #EWTIr  EFTT
Bank guarantees given in lieu of A F 38 SO B
utility and property rental deposits PR & /EHH Z
AT IR 500 500 - -
Guarantees given to banks in it b B A B 2 SRAT
connection with facilities 15 B SR AT 1R A
granted to subsidiaries AR - - 1,472,850 1,420,510
Guarantees given to third parties T — [ B B 2 ]
in connection with lease payments Tl A1 Z &
for lease agreements entered RIS =H
into by a subsidiary 1 Z R - - 30,623 37,924
500 500 1,503,473 1,458,434

As at 31 March 2010, the banking facilities granted to the
subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to the banks by

the Company were utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$704,053,000 (2009: HK$679,991,000).

g

W R -REZA=Z+—H WEAF
AR RAT IS SR A R BT AT
R > BB Z &84 7%704,053,000% 70
(ZFZIULLE £ 679,991,000 78) o
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35. OPERATING LEASE 35. B RLAIRYE
ARRANGEMENTS
(a) As lessor (a) fEfsiALA
The Group leases its investment property (note 15) A £ B i 258 AH B 2 Bk R A T 2
to an associate under an operating lease arrangement, B (MFELS) T—BE AR - &
with a lease negotiated for a term of two years. 16 T 2 L 40 45 191 2 WA 4F o
At 31 March 2010, the Group had total future RN _F-FEZH=Z+—H > iR
minimum lease receivables under a non-cancellable 28 A 5T L 2 A VT R AL
operating lease with its associate falling due as A 4 ] A AR T B 390 B AT WO B I
follows: FEEBFEWMT :
Group
£y |
2010 2009
R R ZRRLE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T W F o
Within one year —4ERN 1,544 230
In the second to fifth years, W OBEHAE
inclusive W R WA 386 -
1,930 230
(b) As lessee (b) fEZy7RALA
The Group leases certain land and buildings under REEBEEHERHEMES T 1M
operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated et o MEEM ZHAEBH £
for terms ranging from one to fifty years. The Group TAEARE - RETREMELHE
has the option of extending the leases by up to three AREHAGHBEERHENE =4 -

years in certain operating lease arrangements.
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35. OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(b) As lessee (continued)

At 31 March 2010, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

BY %5 8 & MY &

31 March 2010 Z&—Z&=A=+—H

5. BRI RYE (8)

(b) fEZRBLA (B])

BoR-FBEZH =4 —H o KEH
R4 A 2R A AT Ji 8 2 6848 AL A0 R R
B 391 R B A 2 5 AR 260 3k T I R

Group
e 3t |

2010 2009

S} CRBAE

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T HNET T

Within one year — 4R 73,084 78,541
In the second to fifth years, B BB HAE

inclusive 55 R W AR 70,401 70,007

After five years B HAFER 11,727 17,935

155,212 166,483

The operating lease rentals of certain retails shops are HTREEHMZREHEM S R
R M BB E o EREB L
R DL B SR EIER R Z
BEH - MU LR aREA R M AE

A

based on the sales of those shops. In the opinion of
the directors, as the future sale of those retails shops
could not be accurately estimated, the relevant rental
commitments have not been included above.

TR IR > Ao W AR A W] S AL AL R
T o M ST AT F AR de 16 L M WO IE R A

— g =

under non-cancellable operating leases (2009: Nil). R ZEBBENAE - E)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not

have any future minimum lease receivables or payments
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36. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in
note 35(b) above, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of property, plant and equipment at the end of the
reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for CLFT 4945 R 3

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no
significant commitments (2009: Nil).

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had
the following material transactions with its related
parties during the year:

Purchase of goods from Ih) B 72 2 ) R J
associates

Sale of goods to associates Ih) 25 o ) B B

Promotion expenses reimbursed B 2 7] iR 42 & {4
by associates Bt 52

Rental income from an RKABEARZ
associate e R A

Notes:

(i) The cost of purchases from associates was made at pre-
determined prices agreed between the parties.

(ii) The selling prices of the goods sold to associates were
determined by reference to prices and conditions similar to

those offered to other major customers.

(iii) The promotion expenses reimbursed by associates were
determined by reference to the costs incurred by the Group.

(iv) The rental income from an associate was determined between
the Group and the associate.
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36. 7R ¥

B b SCHERE3S (b)Rf il Z KB AL A AR R AL
ACER [ i W OR A 3 -~ R B il
EAKBEWMT ¢

Group
30|
2010 2009
SEewyE SRR
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
1,038 3,282

IR > AN E EE KRS (CRF
JUAE : JE) o

J7.HEALRS

(a) b 25 S 2 i o 3L At b Ty P At 2 A%
Sy B G ERAL > A7 P AC S R BRLEL B N
LTS TSI EARLZ 5 ¢

2010 2009

CEEE SRFAE

Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
M7t W T BT
) 373,770 401,212
(ii) 8,953 14,467
(ii) 16,675 14,026
@iv) 1,022 965

() TG A v RO 2 A TR BT 4 T TS
i A Z AR A% T A

(i) I A W 8 2 R TS 2 M oAb 32 3
%P 1R UL SR R -

(i) JBRER 2 A 2 A B S T MR T AR B A
AHE o

Gv) A H B 4 w) 2 AL WO TS A 45 [ B
BAFEE -



Notes to Financial Statements

BY %5 8 & MY R

31 March 2010 =2 —ZH=H=+—§H

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37BN LR Y (48)

(continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) BB AL 2 WA IR &
(i) Details of the amounts due from associates to () HHEBIR > B & A 6] 4 RAE
the Group at the end of the reporting period are B 2 R TERE G > ORI B i R
included in note 20 to the financial statements. 7120 °
(ii) Details of the Group’s trade balances with its (i) R o A4 [ BT A
associates as at the end of the reporting period A 2 B G ARG TR B 5 i B
are disclosed in notes 24 and 27 to the financial 24 K 27HE B8 o

statements, respectively.

(¢) Compensation of key management personnel of the (c) AEMFHEIMABZHMN :
Group:
2010 2009
CEmeEE CERAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T N
Short term employee benefits %5 & & & Fl 18,079 14,176
Pension scheme contributions TR 4t il 4k 815 548
18,894 14,724
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included W H 4 22— 2 A B s
in note 8 to the financial statements. [ 558 o
The related party transactions set out in note 37(a) above P EE3 7 () P Al 2 B LN 32 5 AR
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing B ET BB I4AZ I R € 2 BB AL 5 8k
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the B g -

Listing Rules.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Financial assets

2010

e S 23

Available-

for-sale

Loans and financial
receivables assets
ek WG
b  ZemERE
HK$’000 HK$’000

EWTre  BFTIL
Available-for-sale investments ok H & H & - 65,039
Due from associates FE Wi 2 4 369 -
Trade receivables TE I8 5 Wk 439,808 -
Financial assets included in L HG R B A HOH
prepayments, deposits and HEYER T
other receivables RH2Z e R 44,044 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEFEEA 509,260 -
993,481 65,039

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010

38. & T H2 0%

P BIR > A AR TR ZIRWAENT

4 A
Group
%M
2009
“ERNE
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
Total receivables assets Total
fRk  WHLE
W Bl zam#E o
HKS$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
#EWTE  BETT ENTT BT
65,039 - 52,619 52,619
369 296 - 296
439,808 429,687 - 429,687
44,044 39,476 - 39,476
509,260 482,903 - 482,903
1,058,520 952,362 52,619 1,004,981




38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities included in
trade payables, other payables
and accruals (note 27)

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Financial assets

Available-for-sale investments [ ft B R E
Due from subsidiaries W B B 2 )

Cash and bank balances B RSRTT Bt

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2010 —ZZ2—ZFF=H=+—H

38. 4k T H 2 4y B (%)
o RER
Group
3L |
2010 2009
e Sk 22 ZRENIE
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost

B ADNA AN T8 8RN\ R
1 4 i £1 5 1 4 it £ A

HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
AL HE A RE AT B 5 MR
AR EmAaE (Hit27) 205,223 182,923
JH BT R B Z SRAT 16 K 810,681 779,377
1,015,904 962,300
MR
Company
A

2010 2009

Rk “REE

Available- Available-

for-sale for-sale

Loans and financial Loans and financial
receivables assets Total receivables assets Total

e 04 Wik i j-¢ 0 Rt
Bl 22B¥EE B Bl Z4mEE K
HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BHFL b A W T BHTT BT bl
- 254 254 - 120 120
554,254 - 554,254 521,195 - 521,195
350 - 350 263 - 263
554,604 254 554,858 521,458 120 521,578
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

39.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e

38. & T H2 58 (5)

Financial liabilities LA
Company
A
2010 2009
S ZRBAE
Financial Financial

liabilities at liabilities at

amortised amortised

cost cost

P BRI A N FHE S AR AR

1 4 ik £ A0 Y 4 b £ A%

HK$’000 HK$’000

0T W T

Due to subsidiaries JRE A BR JB 2 ) 312,515 264,179

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group and the Company use the following hierarchy

for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial

39. 8 VA 25 b
2 45 [ A 24 ] DA B R S S D
TR 2 A A

instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices g - FR B FH W] 8 e o B A A N B i
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical B Z W AE (R B0 ) i 5 &
assets or liabilities AP E

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation Iy WA B CARAER &
techniques for which all inputs which have a b3 % Nk ALk R SEASih)
significant effect on the recorded fair value are j<g ) NI DR e o/
observable, either directly or indirectly FAE

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation =g 3 AR 95 W) B SR 0 8 R

techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value
are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs)

ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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39. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39.2 V-H 2 M (48)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2010, the Group and the Company held the MN-FE-FE=ZHA=+—H > REH KK

following financial instruments measured at fair value: AU THAFEFBEZSEMTA :

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 2010: R —FEZH = — HIEA F A2

ZHE :

Group Company

e 40| A |

Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1

B B At B

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
W TFor T oL HWFTC BT T

Available-for-sale investments: A it i B & :

Listed equity investments b RE 55,889 - 55,889 254
Unlisted club debenture Ik ki & P s 2 - 327 327 -
55,889 327 56,216 254
During the year ended 31 March 2010, there were no NEE R -FFE=ZHA=+—HILFE
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and W REBRRKARZE—GRE G2
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 in the Group [ 36 4 SRS N SRR ST B 0 AR = E I fEE
and the Company. A sl Z P o
40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. W4 %5 B Be 4 BIL H B B ok ok

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise AREEZ FTESRBM T AUFEAHMNMEZ
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term BT HRAEBREREMEMNER - Z%4L
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments BT HRHFERB BAREBRZZER
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group o REEBAEKRE ZEZRXLENE S
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as EZxEsEEtemEERAE > JTHH
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly WS HEREE -

from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial R A 45 [ 2 4wl T B A AR 2 R B A R &R
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, JE B~ A RE R B~ A5 B R B~ R B S 4R
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board R J% o REAE A% SR B o RO B AR
of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each B TEZER G Z S E R T

of these risks and they are summarised below.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. Y %5 . B 4 P H B B BOSR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Interest rate risk i ES N
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market A £ [ 7 7 3 T 0 ) R A AL 2 i 2 22
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s short and A A [ D) v B ) B R R A
long term debt obligations with floating interest rates. BEHAR -
The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a A 45 [ R R TR A 18 2 B i B AR
mix of fixed and variable rate debts, which is regularly B A B AR » 1 i A P e e 1
reviewed by senior management. WA o
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a T2 A 4 Z BB i R R A 4R [ RE
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other mEMRZ FHE AR (A KR E
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax e A% ZBUERE OBBFE B AR E
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the BE) o B B AR A R SR I e S o

Group’s equity. There is no impact on the Company’s

equity.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. S5 %5 B B 4% B B R 8OOk (4

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) ) 5 B (7))
Group
e YL |
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
-3 B BE 1 e A HE 23+
Bm,/ (WA) Hm/ (84 ¥/ (8A)
HK$’000 HK$’000
W For W F o
2010 R R
Hong Kong dollar ot 25 (1,513) -
Japanese Yen H |8l 25 (135) -
RMB AR 25 (335) -
Hong Kong dollar ot (25) 1,513 -
Japanese Yen H |8l (25) 135 -
RMB AR (25) 335 -
2009 “RFNAE
Hong Kong dollar T 25 (1,435) -
Japanese Yen H I8l 25 (176) -
RMB AN R 25 (256) -
Hong Kong dollar T (25) 1,435 -
Japanese Yen H I8l (25) 176 -
RMB N (25) 256 -
* Excluding retained profits * L R B
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

40. 5 %5 Wl B 4% B H B R 80K (7))

A BE e, B8

A A 0 i 22 B W B o % S I BT
PR 7 268 8 B DA LA 2 T e £ M A S 2 1
WA H R A -

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currency.

A HHR AR B A A 5 A AR RN 1
YUF > A 42 8 B B0 Wi i ) (a4
Be BAR A 2 SF- {8 5 ) B 30) B A 4R P RE 25
(R J22 90 65 W6 5 2600 149 A - 58 ) o 380) T
e oh 91 A S TR e N RS I R 5 LT
Bl 2 SRR o AN R K A 4 W] 2 A

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the Japanese Yen and RMB exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities) and the Group’s equity (due to changes in fair

value of forward currency contracts). There is no impact 9 S 2 o
on the Company’s equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
BE % Bk B 1 ik A il 2t
Wom,/ (RA)  Wm/ (KA Bm/ (D)
% HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
2010 SRR
If Hong Kong dollar weakens V0 5L H R 59 2
against Japanese Yen 1 57 -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens ER NS
against RMB 1 714 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens  #7 ¥ 7t 5t H [B] 5 24
against Japanese Yen @)) 57 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens  #5 %5 JG 56 A\ R 58 34
against RMB 1) (714) -
2009 ZRFIE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens # v e S H [H] 59 3
against Japanese Yen 1 (69) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens v o0 b N\ R g9 8
against RMB 1 770 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens  # ¥ JG 56 H [B] 58 %4
against Japanese Yen (D 69 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 5 ¥ JG bi. A\ B 5 4
against RMB (1) (770) -

* Excluding retained profits
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s

exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-
sale investments, amounts due from associates and other
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit
risk through the granting of financial guarantees, further
details of which are disclosed in note 34 to the financial

Statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy customers, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations of
credit risk within the Group as the customer bases of the
Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in different

sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are

disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements
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40. 5 %5 Wl B 4% B H B R 80K (7))

g

1 £ L B

AR 188 B A R R AR B T SE 2 K PR AT
Ry o HMALEZBOR » Fif LA B
WEST R AWMEF » BABERGE BSE
PR o BLAb » A 5 A B WA B 2
U > T AC S I 2 SR Dl Sl S FE K

AL OGBS RBESEEEH - T4l
BBCE MO A R I B A WAk
VH Z A S B AR R R B B T
1> B KB S S TR Z IR -
ZAC A L PR % < A8 AR T AR 324 BB
o — 25 R A S B B i ot B R34 P B8R -

Fh 7 A 445 ] 12 S 0 ) e £ R Wl SE K P
AT 5y > WA T EATAT IR - A E
JR BRI LR R R R Ty - R
BeAT 3BT B - B AR 2 | 5 HE WK
AR Z % 7 B B A A A TR A5 SR R AT
S WOARSE P S S T KA AR b LB

24 5 A B Rk 2 A R B 2
AU A0 S B B o M 24

N & B B R 2
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. S0 %5 Bl B 4% B H B e OOk (4)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations. The Group’s objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility

through the use of interest-bearing bank borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as

at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

L ) ¥ 4 e B

A 45 T 7 0 PR AR MR B 4 R T
Ho B8 & wk B o b TR % g
il TR S SR A (A BB 5 k) 1Y
B H KR A R S W B B S i -
ACHE Y H BEAE R 0 A R R 2
SRATRRK > DR A A B 4 P P

AU T AT AR B B > DLF a5 A4
PEREHRZMBEAEBINA

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group £ Y0 |
2010
e S 208
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
WE R A
1248 1 1532 18548 ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT o BT o
Trade payables and other payables  HEft B 5 Mk sk &
Al JE A 3K JH 205,223 - 205,223
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B 2
AT K 659,838 154,765 814,603
865,061 154,765 1,019,826
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. S 5 o B 45 PEL H B2 B BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) W E 4 E b ()
2009
ZERRIE
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
128 H A5 72 1 E 54 A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BN F o BT o

Trade payables and other payables  HEft & 5 Mk &

FC At JE A K IH 182,923 - 182,923
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B 2

AT B 758,075 23,232 781,307

940,998 23,232 964,230

Company ¥ /NG|
At the end of the reporting period, the amounts due to B R oK R A RS A
subsidiaries of HK$312,515,000 (2009: HK$264,179,000) "] 3K JH312,515,0009 ¢ (ZFF LA -
are repayable on demand. 264,179,000 75) °
Equity price risk JBe 5% A L e
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity gt 5% A A% oL gt R i R T M i SO - % A 331
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels W 97 A A A ) i BORE % R 5 A P ME IR
of equity indices and the value of individual securities. ZEbE e R T -FEZH=+—H K
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from 45 8] 7k 32 TR 3G 7 BAE AR Bl e AR 3 2w
individual equity investments classified as available-for- P BB (B 5E21) T 51 2 B HE A 4% R
sale investments (note 21) as at 31 March 2010. B o
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. Yo %55 bl Bt 4 P H B2 B BOR (4)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Equity price risk (continued) JBe 5% f b B (75)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 2 7 7 A 5 WO R A B I HLR BB
3% change in the fair values of the equity investments, FRIE R R > WE 25 B RS R Z MR
with all other variables held constant and before any {F 3 HE 25 B G A P 3% 5% B 2 BBk -
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end RESNTE > T HEERIREZ B
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, B A 2 S R 0t B B A e A R R B
for the available-for-sale equity investments, the impact & HWWMEI AW B B RAERZIEHE
is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment a0 Pk AE o

revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors

such as impairment which might impact on the income

statement.
Group Company
4] A
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/ Increase/
in fair in profit (decrease) (decrease)
value before tax in equity* in equity*
AT BRBLET &R B 2 B 2+
B/ (W4) Bm/ (84 B/ (85 ¥/ (85)
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
BT BT .3
2010 i St 25
Investments listed in Hong Kong: mELTRE -
- Available-for-sale — ] gk B 3 - 1,677 8
) - (1,677) @®)
2009 “EFIE
Investments listed in Hong Kong: AN
— Available-for-sale — Ak 3 - 1,305 4
3) - (1,305) (4)
*  Excluding retained profits AL R B R A
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
repurchase of shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The
gearing ratio is regularly reviewed by senior management.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Equity attributable to equity S B 7 AR o ) R R
holders of the Company B # B RE %5
Gearing ratio B E AR

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 16 July 2010.

JH AT R 2 SR AT Bk
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40. 3095 Jel B 4% BEL H B2 B BOR (A1)

BB

ACHR ) 2 2 B A B A e AR A 4 1
A7 BB T 4 A S I ) T S A
et B 5 A B R DL S L S I e RAB IR R
B -

7R L 42 AR A0 1 2 A B A B A
A S i DA A e o T A e I R A
7 £ 18 WY G A S PR OR Z IR, - 1 B OB [E]
A~ BEATHT e S [ A o MR E R
—EEZA=Z+HERZFFEZA
Et—HIREERN s EAREHZ B B

AL A BB E A B R DA A - A
ST R A B Z BRAT B B DAAS 2 )
3 T A HEAG RE S T A B o BB AL
B AR A B R AR A o RO HIK
FREARLENT

Group
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2010 2009
g CBBAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
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1,011,030 975,553
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Particulars of Property

SEEY %

31 March 2010 ZZ—-Z&=H=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Location
A

Levels 1 and 2 (west portion)
of Four Seas Group Guangdong
Headquarter Building Complex,
Yuepu South Industrial Zone,
Shantou, Guangdong Province,
The People’ s Republic of China

g N\ R A
i 48 il BE T H {5 R 3K [
PO Y 55 P o R A AR

A M — M e it (W)

Use

W&

Industrial

T¥

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2010

B E

Tenure
AR

Medium term lease

T ALA

Percentage of
attributable
interest of
the Group

A S 1 R A
BT A e

100

100
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Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited

FOUR SEAS GROUP BUILDING, NO. T HONG TING ROAD, SAI KUNG, HONG KONG
TELEX: 34174 FSML HX CABLE: TAIFSML  FAX: 2799 2632
TELEPHONE: 2799 9777 (MAIN SWITCHBOARD)
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